


Contents 
OVERVIEW
01	 Foreword
02	 At a glance
03	 Our year in review
04	 Empowering our clients
06	 About Moneycorp
09	 Our value proposition
10	 Our strategic framework

STRATEGIC REPORT
12	 Chair’s statement
14	 Chief Executive Officer’s review
16	 Chief Financial Officer’s review
19	 Our markets
22  	 Our business model
24	 Technology and innovation
25	 Our global network and reach
26	 Protecting our clients
27	 Our regulatory credentials
28	 Our strategic priorities
30	 Key performance indicators
32	 Business review
38	 Our people and culture
40	 Our approach to ESG
42	 Our stakeholders
46	 Risk management

GOVERNANCE
54  	 Board of Directors
56	 Governance at a glance
58  	 Directors’ report
59	� Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
61	 Independent Auditor’s report
64	 Consolidated income statement
64  	 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
65  	 Consolidated balance sheet
66	 Consolidated statement of changes in equity
67	 Consolidated cash flow statement
68	 Notes to the financial statements

OTHER INFORMATION
102	 Alternative performance measures
103	 EBITDA to statutory results reconciliation
104	 Glossary 
107	 Contact details

Empowering 
clients

Page 04

Strategic  
priorities

Financial  
statements

Page 09 Page 28 Page 60

Value 
proposition







FINANCIAL RESULTS1

Financial growth and a conditional US Bank charter from 
the State of Connecticut achieved, as we remain focused 
on empowering our clients, delivering for all stakeholders, 
and accelerating the strategic growth of our business.

Chief Financial Officer’s review  
Page 16

Trading volume (flow)
FY23-24 growth 12%

Revenue
FY23-24 growth 5%

 2024 £79bn 

 2023 £70bn 

 2022 £71bn 

 2024 £231.3m 

 2023 £220.8m 

 2022 £217.3m 

EBITDA 
FY23-24 growth 5%

EBITDA margin 

 2024 £80.4m 

 2023 £76.9m 

 2022 £69.2m 

 2024 35% 

 2023 35% 

 2022 32% 

Capital expenditure investment 
FY23-24 growth 0.5%

Staff base – Full time equivalent2 
FY23-24 growth 0.5%

 2024 £19.3m 

 2023 £19.2m 

 2022 £12.5m 

 2024 627 

 2023 624 

 2022 601 

1	� Financial results are shown on a continuing operations basis following the strategic decision, in 2024, to wind-down the 
regulated activity of our Romanian branch which is now discontinued.

2	 Full time equivalent (FTE) as at December 2024.

MILESTONES ACHIEVED

CLIENTS
Established our Financial Intelligence 
Unit (FIU) in February 2024 to enhance 
our ability to understand and manage 
the key risks of our business, and support 
the continuing delivery to, and expansion 
of, services to our clients.

PEOPLE 
Strengthened our Executive Team with 
the appointment of our Chief Marketing 
Officer and Chief Technology Officer.

ESG 
Reduced our GHG emissions  
by 7% vs 2023. 

In relation to establishing our US 
Bank, we obtained our Temporary 
Certificate of Authority from the State of 
Connecticut Department of Banking, in 
October, representing a key milestone 
in our strategy to establish direct 
connectivity to key payment rails.

Embedded our values in our 
Moneycorp culture, evidenced 
through a continued increase in 
our employee NPS to +18.

A successful year for our Women-
In-Tech network, supporting 
an increase in the number of 
technology roles held by women. 

Protecting our clients 
Page 26

Chief Executive Officer’s review 
Page 14

Our people and culture 
Page 38

Our approach to ESG 
Page 40

Our approach to ESG 
Page 40

OUR YEAR IN REVIEW

2024 highlights
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OUR STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK

Our strategy aligns with our mission, is shaped by 
our culture, and is powered by our value drivers 
and enablers that help us succeed

Belonging

Excellence

Accountability

Client-Oriented

What  
drives us

What guides us and keeps  
us focused

What powers us  
to succeed

eNtrepreneurship

People and culture 
Page 38

Our strategic priorities  
Page 28

Our business model 
Page 22

OUR VISION
Our vision is for global reach 
powered by local payment 
connectivity.

OUR MISSION
To reduce friction and help 
clients navigate the complex 
global payments market.

OUR STRATEGIC PILLARS
Clients
Focus on building deeper, stronger 
client relationships and being an 
integral business partner –  
expanding wallet share and 
growth opportunities. 

Performance
Commitment to profitability, growth 
and achieving our Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs). Focus on revenue 
generation and cost optimisation.  

Disciplined 
Entrepreneurship
Drive accountability and delivery 
across our strategic programmes. 

Regulatory
Be consistent and proactive in 
our ‘regulatory-first’ commitment 
to compliance and controls.  

Culture
Strengthening our values, 
collaboration and accountability. 

OUR VALUE DRIVERS
Reach
A global network of liquidity 
providers and payment networks 
allowing access across the globe. 

Relevance
An extensive product offering 
coupled with a multi-channel 
approach and proven customer 
service model.

Resilience
A strong risk and compliance 
culture and infrastructure 
ensuring safety and security.

Results
Delivering on our objectives 
and creating value for all 
stakeholders. 

OUR MONEYCORP 
‘BEACON’ VALUES

OUR ENABLERS 
Our colleagues	
Colleagues are at the centre 
of our relationship-led model, 
partnering with clients to provide 
tailored solutions to deliver on 
our client-needs.

Our technology	
Our technology is purpose-built, 
scalable and agile, ensuring the 
ability to remain relevant.

Our regulatory 
credentials	
Our robust compliance and 
regulatory infrastructure, and 
extensive regulatory permissions 
ensure built-in confidence and trust.

Our network	
Our network connects us with 
liquidity providers and payment 
network banking partners, making 
cross-border payments seamless.
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INTRODUCTION
It is my pleasure to step into the role of Chair of 
Moneycorp, on an interim basis, having served on 
the Board since 2020. During my tenure, I have 
witnessed the transformation of Moneycorp and 
its remarkable growth with revenues more than 
doubling and profits quadrupling over this period. 
I am delighted to support a further significant 
growth opportunity as we enter the next stage of 
our evolution with strategic expansion in the US 
having recently secured conditional approval for 
a US banking charter. I would like to thank Alan 
for his significant contribution in his tenure as 
Chair and wish him all the best for the future.

FULL-YEAR RESULTS AND DELIVERING 
FOR OUR SHAREHOLDERS
In 2024, we facilitated £79bn in flow of transactions 
for a diverse range of clients, including global 
financial institutions, SMEs, and high-net-worth 
individuals, representing an impressive12% increase 
year-on-year. Building on our strong performance 
in 2023, I am delighted to report that we have 
continued to show strong momentum against 
our Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) despite 
a challenging macro environment, achieving a 
5% increase in revenue to £231m driven by flow 
growth and a change in client mix, and a 5% 
increase in EBITDA to £80m.

Given our strong and consistent performance, 
and confidence in the future outlook, the Board 
has approved the refinancing of the Moneycorp 
Group’s Senior Debt Facility, subsequent to year 
end. The proceeds of this refinancing will be used 
to partially repay shareholder loan notes which 
are also held above the trading Moneycorp Group, 
providing realised returns to our investors.

Bridgepoint is fully committed to the next stage of 
Moneycorp’s growth journey.

CHAIR’S STATEMENT

EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP
Our results are underpinned by our dedicated and 
hardworking leadership team. Under the guidance 
of our Executive leadership team, we continue to 
make significant progress against our refreshed 
strategic pillars for 2024, which include scaling 
our core platform and building a global payments 
network with direct access to banking rails. 

Velizar’s first full year as CEO has been marked 
by his focus and exceptional execution of our 
strategy, prioritising both our company culture 
and clients. He has ensured that Moneycorp’s 
clearly defined strategic vision has been 
transparently communicated and understood 
across the organisation, a step instrumental to 
our current and future success.

MARKET OPPORTUNITY AND 
STRATEGIC PROGRESS
We are well positioned to expand our global 
business, with a strong and growing presence in 
many of the world’s largest and most significant 
cross-border payments markets.

Moneycorp continues to provide clients with a 
trusted, long-term partner that carefully balances 
stringent risk management practices and a stable 
trading history, with comprehensive solutions that 
deliver results faster, cheaper and more securely 
than ever before. Over the past decade, we have 
experienced rapid growth and we are now focusing 
on further optimising our business fundamentals. 
This ongoing success in professionalising 
our operations ensures that we balance 
entrepreneurship and innovation for our clients with 
a continued focus on regulatory excellence. This 
approach prepares us well for navigating volatile 
market conditions and enabling the next stage of 
our growth, delivering consistent and sustainable 
returns for all our stakeholders. We continue to seek 
opportunities in adjacent markets and products to 
enhance our core business growth, setting a solid 
foundation for ongoing success.

Adam Jones Chair

Fostering long term success 
and value creation
Moneycorp has transformed into a 
global leader in cross-border payments, 
combining world-class expertise with 
a deep understanding of local markets.
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CHAIR’S STATEMENT CONTINUED

“�With significant investments in people 
and technology, and a growing strength of 
culture and belonging within our organisation, 
we are well-positioned for the future.”

During the year we received conditional approval 
for a US banking charter from the State of 
Connecticut’s Department of Banking. This charter, 
once fully approved, will expand our banking 
footprint, provide direct access to the pre-eminent 
US dollar payment network, broaden our presence 
in one of the most competitive markets globally, and 
help us realise our vision of global reach powered 
by local payment connectivity. The opportunities 
unlocked by extending our banking license footprint 
will meaningfully improve our reach and relevance 
for our clients.

LOOKING AHEAD
The macro-economic environment presents 
its own challenges for 2025, with ongoing 
geopolitical tensions influencing global markets, 
significant advancements in technology and 
artificial intelligence reshaping industries, and the 
introduction of new tariffs potentially leading to 
trade disputes and creating short term market 
volatility. These factors necessitate a clearly 
defined strategic approach as clients look for 
a payments provider that has demonstrable 
strength, resilience and agility to help them 
navigate rapidly changing market dynamics.

Despite these macro challenges, 2025 promises 
to be an exciting year for Moneycorp as we 
remain focused on supporting clients during 
volatile conditions, growing our core business, 
and executing our clear roadmap for the next 
stages of our US bank buildout. With significant 
investments in people and technology, and 
a growing strength of culture and belonging 
within our organisation, we are well positioned 
for the future.

As a Board, we are dedicated to driving the long 
term success of our business and delivering value 
to all stakeholders through rigorous oversight 
and governance.

Adam Jones
Chair
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Sustainable and predictable 
performance
Moneycorp has delivered another year of revenue and EBITDA 
growth, demonstrating its ability for sustainable and predictable 
performance. This growth has been achieved through the 
continued investment in our talent and technology, and a 
relentless focus on delivering for our clients.

Richard Brice Chief Financial Officer

INTRODUCTION
The Group reported another strong year of financial 
results in 2024, with revenue of £231m and record 
earnings before finance costs, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation (EBITDA) of £80m, both representing 
a 5% increase year-on-year. These financial results 
reflect a business which sustainably delivers whilst 
investing in growth for the future.

Statutory operating profit was £54m, down 
on £60m in 2023, reflecting a £4m net loss on 
foreign exchange, compared to a £2m gain in 
the prior year, as well as higher depreciation and 
amortisation costs.

We are pleased with these results which were 
delivered in an environment where geopolitical 
uncertainty drove volatility within the global FX 
markets, particularly towards the latter stages of 
the year, whilst falling inflation and a more stable 
interest rate environment were prominent themes in 
the early stages. The combination of these dynamics 
contributed to a solid set of results in our two largest 
segments – Corporate and Financial Institutions 
(FI), with external and internal factors continuing to 
dampen our smaller Private client segment activity. 

For Payments – Corporate, revenue was £90.3m, 
a 7% increase on prior year, with outperformance 
in Europe and North America, where geographic 
expansion and investment in newer regions is 
continuing to deliver positive results. 

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REVIEW

Revenue growth

 5%
EBITDA

£80m
EBITDA margin

 35%

In Payments – FI, we generated consistent results, 
with strong client retention, coupled with new 
country and client acquisition, resulting in 5% 
revenue growth to £120.3m. 

Interest income increased in both Payments – 
Corporate and Payments – FI segments, reflecting 
higher interest rates. 

In our Payments – Private segment, a reduction 
in new client acquisition, which was likely impacted 
by higher prevailing interest rates, as well as 
reduced marketing spend, resulted in a revenue 
decline of 7%, year-on-year, to £20.7m. Given 
this Private performance, we have taken steps 
to improve future delivery including through the 
appointments of a Global Head of Private Clients 
and Chief Marketing Officer.

From a cost perspective, we saw a 4% increase 
in direct trading costs, as a result of the top-line 
revenue growth, and a 5.5% increase in total 
operating costs as we made targeted investments 
in our talent and technology. 

Overall, a 5% increase in EBITDA and the 
maintenance of our EBITDA margin of 35%, a core 
measure of our ability to convert revenue to profits, 
was a positive result as we continue to focus on 
both growing our core business and investing in 
the future. 

Whilst achieving the above, we have continued to 
invest in our technology, with more than £19m 
capital expenditure to support and develop our 
service and capability, as well as start the build-out 
of the US Bank. This is all possible given the cash 
generative capacity of the business which, together 
with other resources, also positions us strongly to 
support our clients and remain resilient through 
any market volatility. 

Moneycorp continues to be very strongly positioned 
to deliver on its strategic and financial objectives, 
delivering returns to shareholders and adding value 
to all stakeholders. 
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REVIEW CONTINUED

Net financing
cost
£11.5m
(£11.2m)  
Tax 
£5.9m
(£4.7m)

Payments –
Corporate
£90.3m
(£84.3m)

Payments – FI
£120.3m
(£114.3m)

Non-Staff cost
£26.7m
(£25.0m)

Staff cost
£60.3m
(£57.4m)

Gross revenue
£231.3m
(£220.8m)

Gross profit
£167.5m
(£159.3m)

EBITDA
£80.4m
(£76.9m) Other costs

£17.5m
(£15.8m) Depreciation, amortisation, 

foreign exchange gains/losses 
and one-off costs
£26.5m
(£17.3m)

Operating
expenses
£87.0m
(£82.5m)

Trading costs
£63.9m
(£61.4m)

Net profit
£36.4m
(£43.8m)

Operating profit
£53.9m
(£59.6m)

Payments –
Private
£20.7m
(£22.1m)

2024 INCOME STATEMENT FOR CONTINUING OPERATIONS1

STATUTORY PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 
The Group’s overall statutory operating profit from 
continuing operations for the year of £53.9m 
decreased by £5.7m compared to the prior year 
largely driven by the movement in foreign exchange 
gains and losses which worsened by £6.5m year-on-
year. The Group reported a statutory profit after tax 
from continuing operations for the year of £36.4m 
(2023: £43.8m). Financing costs, depreciation and 
amortisation, and one-off items are the other main 
drivers of the difference between EBITDA and 
statutory profit after tax. A detailed reconciliation 
from the management accounts to the statutory 
results is shown on page 103.

LIQUIDITY AND CREDIT 
Moneycorp is highly cash-generative, with a 
significant proportion of revenue and EBITDA 
converting to cash soon after being recognised. 
With the exclusion of client funds and 
corresponding balance sheet liability balances, 
the Group is balance-sheet light. During the year, 
the Group continued to develop and evolve the 
management of FX flows across liquidity providers 

therefore minimising the amount of variation margin 
required, in aggregate, across those providers, in 
the year as well as the sensitivity to potential future 
market stresses.

We maintained our conservative risk appetite 
through the year which resulted in minimal credit 
losses and a continuation of the portfolio being 
well diversified across sectors.

The cash generative capacity of the business, 
together with the strength and diversity of liquidity 
providers and the client portfolio, positions 
us strongly to support our clients and remain 
resilient through any potential market volatility.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 
On 11 June 2025, the Directors executed a 
refinancing of the existing wider Moneycorp 
Group Senior Facilities Agreement. The refinancing 
increases and extends the existing wider Moneycorp 
senior term loan, the proceeds of which will be 
used for a partial repayment of shareholder loan 
notes. In addition, the super senior revolving 
credit facility was enhanced, further increasing 

the Group’s liquidity resources and resiliency 
during market stresses such as increased foreign 
exchange volatility.

CONTINUED INVESTMENT 
Profitability and effective cash conversion allows 
the Group to make meaningful investments into 
the future of the business. During the year, we 
continued to make significant investments into 
both our people and platform to support ambitious 
future growth plans. During the year we invested 
£19m of capital expenditure into our key technology 
systems to support core system maintenance 
and enhancements, such as system and 
application upgrades, including Client Relationship 
Management (CRM) tools, security uplifts, upgrades 
to meet regulatory changes, the Brazil integration, 
as well as strategic business projects.

OUTLOOK
The Group remains cautiously optimistic with 
regards to the macro-economic outlook for the 
global economy in 2025 given leadership changes 
in key economies, and the introduction of new 

tariffs potentially leading to increased volatility 
across foreign exchange markets. With interest 
rates in many countries falling in the second half 
of 2024 and anticipation for further reductions in 
2025, we expect a decline in our interest revenue, 
although plan for that to be offset by increased 
client trading flows as we progress our client and 
go-to-market strategies. 

We remain focused on growth from scaling our core 
platform as well as the expansion of our geographic 
footprint, licenses and future products and service 
development, with a particular focus on progressing 
the licensing and operations set-up of our future 
US Bank. 

Richard Brice
Chief Financial Officer

1	� Numbers may not cast due to rounding. 
Bracketed numbers represent 2023 
comparatives which have been restated.
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OUR MARKETS 

CROSS-BORDER 
PAYMENT SPECIALISTS

MARKET 
POSITIONING*

Strategically positioned in a 
vast and growing market

HOW WE ARE POSITIONED
Moneycorp brings a unique combination of 
operational and licensing capabilities to the 
global payments ecosystem. Our product and 
solution suite allows for synergies across our 

Scale of market participants 
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Enterprise

Moneycorp is strategically positioned to effectively address 
clients’ needs – providing high-touch personalised service 
with a strong regulatory backbone for safety and resilience.

No acceleration of traction observed Losing tractionGaining traction

ADDITIONAL MARKET GROWTH
Moneycorp has an established capability with 
a powerful combination of global presence 
and local market understanding. Our skills in 
risk management and regulatory excellence, 
our innovation in developing technological 
solutions to support the various and unique 
needs of our diverse client base, and our 
experience in building strong partnerships to 
develop robust payments ecosystems, provides 
significant potential for us to capitalise on as we 
continue to execute our strategy. 

We see significant additional potential from our 
strategic initiatives such as expanding our banking 
footprint, providing direct access to key payment 
networks and expanding our service offering with 
electronic clearing.

Our strategic priorities 
Page 28

1	� Third party advisor. Current and expected TAM represents the total addressable market for our three Payment 
segments, based on our existing product offerings and markets in which we currently operate.

2	 Global payments in 2024 | McKinsey & Company Simpler interfaces, complex reality.
3	� Payments 2025 and Beyond | PwC and Payments Modernisation: What is the future of payments? (kpmg.com).

*	 Not to scale

Current TAM1 2024:

 $25bn
Market per annum growth rate:

 5%

network and provides a distinct competitive 
advantage. Our market positioning, as a cross-
border payments specialist, is strategically 
between traditional, global transaction banks and 
newer entrants such as Neobanks or FinTechs 
more broadly. 

Clients want a trusted, long-term partner, that 
can eliminate friction and reduce complexity. 
We believe that, in payments, this works best 
when global capabilities are delivered in a local 
way. We aim to deliver a tailored, premium service 
for our clients’ payment needs, surpassing the 
offerings of traditional banks while maintaining 
stringent regulatory compliance and a stable trading 
history that new market entrants cannot match. 

MARKET OPPORTUNITY
Based on our current product offerings, we operate 
in a multi-billion revenue Total Addressable Market 
(TAM), estimated at $25bn1, of which non-banks hold 
only a small fraction. We estimate that we currently 
capture only c.1% of the market. 

Cross-border currency and payments are growing 
at around 5% per annum2. In all the markets 
where the Group operates there is potential to 
gain market share from incumbents, with market 
research3 indicating that new entrant FinTechs 
and cross-border specialists are well positioned 
to disrupt the market. Our main competitors are 
thus traditional banks, who perform the majority of 
cross-border transactions today. This combination of 
overall market growth and gaining of market share, 
means we are well positioned for the future.

In recent years, Moneycorp has established itself as 
a prominent market leader for wholesale US dollar 
currency. Having built a reputation for exceptional 
client service, transparent pricing models and the 
ability to serve across industry stakeholders, we 
have captured meaningful market share of global 
primary flow distribution. US dollar flow continues to 
grow, and we expect the demand for physical dollar 
currency to continue, driven by intra-regional trade 
and liquidity requirements, supported by the use of 
the US dollar as a store of value. 

TRADITIONAL 
GLOBAL 

TRANSACTION 
BANKS

NEO-
FINTECHS
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OUR MARKETS CONTINUED

Market trends In our over 45-year heritage, we have witnessed global economies 
experience both prosperous and challenging times, and we have 
guided our clients through the complexities at every juncture.

MACRO OUTLOOK

Geopolitical climate
Geopolitics have rarely been more uncertain than in 
recent times. Following widespread governmental 
change in the wake of general elections in 2024, 
nations are adjusting to new diplomatic and 
economic dynamics, impacting international 
relations and economic stability. 

Geopolitical tension looks set to intensify into 
2025, with the potential to cause currency 
volatility, impacting imports and exports globally.

Our response 
As ongoing trade negotiations between the 
United States and other nations continue, it is 
premature to conclude whether the proposed 
tariff regime is a new status-quo or simply a  
hard-line negotiation method. 

Monetary policy and inflation
Consistently low, long-run inflation is a policy 
cornerstone for central banks. Many developed 
and emerging market nations have seen price 
stabilisation following COVID era dislocations 
caused by supply chain disruptions and  
large-scale public sector stimulus programmes. 
However, much of the inflation-reducing progress 
made in 2024 and the years prior is at risk of 
stalling due to potential effects of tariff-led trade 
protectionism led by the United States. 

Much of the concern is that the economic 
benefits of near-shoring manufacturing to avoid 
tariffs may come with the pitfalls of higher local 
production costs that will be passed down to end 
consumers. Imported goods now incurring tariff 
expenses may also go up in price if importers 
seek to maintain profit margins. Furthermore, 
even the aforementioned benefits may be at 
risk if the rest of the world continues business 
as usual, effectively cutting the US out of 
international trade. 

Our response 
We monitor major markets and currency 
movements, reviewing the location of all 
clients and transactions to assess the impact 
on operations and confirm compliance with all 
applicable international sanctions. 

We keep clients regularly informed via our 
weekly and monthly market updates as we 
understand that during these uncertain times, 
clients seek stability and support, and we are 
committed to providing them with the tailored 
products, services and guidance they need.

A simultaneous slowdown in economic growth 
and increase in inflation (“stagflation”), may result 
in higher-for-longer policy rates at the Federal 
Reserve if the latter risk is prioritised. 

While there is no consensus on whether 
inflation will emerge from new trade regimes 
(or whether the proposed regimes come to be at 
all), these are unchartered waters for central banks, 
traditionally focused on “smoothing out” natural 
economic cycles while maintaining price stability. 
Instead, they may find themselves setting monetary 
policy as a direct response to foreign and domestic 
political/trade policy. All this policy uncertainty may 
lead to heightened volatility in foreign exchange 
markets which are typically driven by interest rate 
differentials between nations. 

Regardless, volatility in both the interest rate and 
foreign exchange markets during the negotiation 
process could increase the demand from clients 
seeking our services in order to manage their 
currency needs and exposures, particularly when 
markets move.
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OUR MARKETS CONTINUED

CROSS-BORDER MARKET DYNAMICS

Our response 
We have a demonstrable history of putting 
clients first, ensuring clients have access 
to clear and transparent information, and 
making protection of client funds paramount. 
We ensure full compliance with all regulatory 
requirements and hold sufficient cash assets to 
protect client liabilities. 

Moneycorp’s RegTech engine blends advanced 
technology for prevention of financial crime and 
cyber security with highly responsive human 
expertise, ensuring our clients’ data is safe. In 
2024, we established our Financial Intelligence 
Unit, enhancing our data analytics and risk 
management. We continue to upgrade, reinforce 
and expand our defences to ensure our clients 
are protected.

Our response 
Regulatory excellence is a strength we pride 
ourselves on. With dedicated regulatory and 
compliance professionals across all markets, we stay 
up to date with changes in regulation. Throughout 
2024, we have reinforced our cybersecurity posture 
by implementing comprehensive measures to 
safeguard our systems and clients against emerging 
threats. Our ISO 27001 accreditation on information 
security management ensures protection against 
technology-based risks and increases resilience 
to cyber-attacks, whilst the Group’s systems and 
controls are certified to comply with the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Trust 
Services Criteria and a SOC2 type 2 report has 
been received.

Our response 
Continued investment in our technology and 
innovation has allowed us to retain a competitive 
advantage and bring new, relevant products to 
market. With real-time pricing and an omni-channel 
digital platform already in place, we are progressing 
towards complete API integration for greater agility. 
We embrace changes in technology, leveraging AI 
to realise efficiencies and enhance our processes 
across functions.

Our response 
Our primary access to US dollar along with our 
prominent market positioning in the wholesale 
currency industry ensures we are well-positioned 
to support growing demand for banknotes when 
needed as a store of value, or for transactional 
purposes in certain jurisdictions, and to support 
banknote recycling and replacement through 
clearance back to the FRBNY.

Continued banknote growth
Ongoing global market uncertainty is expected 
to sustain and grow demand for banknotes in 
the medium term, with a notable preference for 
the US dollar due to its perceived stability and the 
strength of the US economy. In the longer term, 
the industry anticipates an increase in the rate 
of banknote replacement and for advancements 
in technology to enhance the design and 
production of banknotes.

What we learnt whilst sponsoring 
the Banknote Conference 2024 | Moneycorp

Technological advancement and AI
The future of technology is expected to see an 
acceleration in Application Programming Interface 
(API) integration and fully cloud-native platforms 
with greater use of artificial intelligence (AI). 
Significant advancements in AI during 2024, such 
as the evolution of generative AI and its broad 
applications, have set the stage for these changes. 
Additionally, blockchain technology is expected to 
find broader application in the medium term.

Expanding regulatory expectations
The scale of regulatory change in the payments 
industry is increasing more than ever, with greater 
emphasis on regulatory rigour and ensuring 
client safety and security. An example of this is the 
Digital Operational Resilience Act2, a European 
Union regulation which came into force in January 
2025. Throughout 2024, financial services firms 
were expected to ensure compliance readiness by 
enhancing the IT security and operational resilience 
of financial entities.

Protection of clients 
There continues to be a strengthening of 
consumer protection within the financial services 
industry. Embedding Consumer Duty protections 
and ensuring clarity of FX pricing in payment 
services continues to be a high priority for the 
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA)1. The protection 
of client funds remains a focus for banks and 
non-banks with clients seeking reassurance that 
their funds are safeguarded, secure, and available 
on demand. Furthermore, clients want comfort 
that all their personal data is protected.

1	 Our Consumer Duty focus areas | FCA.
2	 Digital Operational Resilience Act (DORA) – EIOPA.
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL 

A unique proposition creating 
value for stakeholders

OUR ENABLERS
Through our distinctive technology, we have created a platform which, when partnered with our 
global network, allows us to meet our clients’ ever-evolving needs. We deliver this by carefully 
combining smart technology, personalised service and extensive regulatory credentials.

OUR VALUE DRIVERS
Our network, agile technology and 
extensive regulatory credentials provide 
global reach. This, coupled with personalised, 
high-touch local execution and a bank-
standard risk and compliance culture, sets 
us apart, and helps clients reduce friction in 
cross-border payments.

Reach
A global network to deliver seamless 
international payments across over 
130 currencies and 190 countries.

Where we operate 
Page 07

Relevance
An extensive product offering coupled with a 
multi-channel approach and proven customer 
service model.

Our network 
Page 25

Resilience 
A strong risk and compliance culture and 
infrastructure ensuring safety and security 
of client funds.

Protecting our clients 
Page 26

Results
A track record of financial strength 
and stability.

Chief Financial Officer’s review 
Page 16

WHAT WE OFFER
We offer a comprehensive range of cross-
border solutions for all client types including:

Foreign exchange risk 
management
Short-term spot contracts, forwards, market 
order for automated execution and FX 
options for risk management with flexibility.

Bespoke end-to-end payment 
solutions
Seamless API integration, streamlined 
bulk payment processing and quick and 
clear reconciliations.

Bank accounts
Multi-currency single IBANs (allows clients to 
receive payments from over 70 countries all 
into one account, making payments swifter 
and simpler), 90-day interest-bearing notice 
accounts, segregated client accounts and no 
unexpected fees.

Banknote liquidity
Clearance and supply of US dollars and 
other currencies via our extensive network 
with bespoke end-to-end delivery/collection 
service, and competitive pricing.

Our network
Our network connects us with liquidity 
providers and payment network partners 
to reduce complexity in international 
payments and FX management for our 
clients.

Our network 
Page 25

Our regulatory rigour
We have a comprehensive compliance 
and regulatory infrastructure at a global 
scale, holding 63 regulatory permissions, 
including two separate banking licences, 
and an embedded risk management 
culture across the organisation.

Our regulatory credentials 
Page 27

Risk management 
Page 46

Our technology
Over the past 10 years we have 
invested over £90m capital 
expenditure in a wholly owned, 
purpose-built, end-to-end digital 
payments platform.

Technology and innovation 
Page 24

Our colleagues
Our colleagues are at the centre of our 
relationship-led model, ensuring our 
client needs are met.

Our people and culture 
Page 38
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL CONTINUED

5

Clients Liquidity  
Providers

Client 
Account 

4

Moneycorp 
Platform 
1, 2 & 3

Beneficiaries

1. FX MARGIN
Revenue earned between the buying and selling price of currencies 
sold in FX spot and forward contracts.

2. FI GROUP COMMISSION AND MARGIN
Commission on supplying and purchasing banknotes to/from clients 
as well as any margin earned between the buying and selling price of 
notes in different currencies.

3. OPTION PREMIUM
Earned from entering into option contracts with either banks or 
clients (earned regardless of if an option is exercised or not).

4. INTEREST
Generated on funds held as part of general operations including 
those held by Moneycorp Bank as part of our notice accounts offering.

5. FEES AND CHARGES
Fixed fees are earned on one-to-many bulk payment transactions 
and on lower value transactions.

REVENUE GENERATION VALUE FOR STAKEHOLDERS

Clients

 89%
of revenue earned from repeat clients 
(those who traded with us in 2023 or earlier)

People

 92%
of people are proud to be a part of their 
Moneycorp team

Regulators

 Two-way sharing
of market insights between us and 
our regulators

Community

 18
Supported 18 individuals of the 
Moneycorp Apprenticeship scheme, 
offering permanent positions to all

Investors 

 £80m
EBITDA generated for our shareholders

Our stakeholders 
Page 42
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CASE STUDY

PAYMENT INTEGRATION 
SOLUTIONS
In 2024, we further enhanced our 
payments capability and client experience 
by establishing seamless data integration 
between our payments platform and 
enterprise financial systems. Through our 
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) connector 
capability, clients can now connect their 
Moneycorp Online account to leading ERP 
systems including Intuit QuickBooks, Oracle 
NetSuite, and Xero within minutes, using 
our advanced API technology and pre-built 
connectors. These integrations automate 
payment workflows, synchronise data in  
real-time, and will soon expand to include 
banking reconciliation capabilities.

“	�Technological investment 
has been instrumental in 
each phase of Moneycorp’s 
evolution and, with the 
upcoming launch of our 
US Bank, will continue to 
be a catalyst for our future 
growth and success.” 

	 Srini Kasturi 
	 Group Chief Technology Officer

Staying relevant OUR DIGITAL PLATFORM PROVIDES 
A GLOBAL SOLUTION
•	Online portal accessible 24/7 in 

multiple languages

•	Secure, robust and scalable suite of cloud 
hosted APIs for B2B integration

•	Digital interface optimised for mobile and 
web, providing a rich end user experience

•	Payment out capability in over 130 currencies 
and live FX rate execution covering over 
35 currencies

CONTINUED INVESTMENT IN OUR 
MODERN CLOUD ARCHITECTURE
•	Purpose-built, highly resilient architecture with 

modern cloud hosting
•	OMNI-platform means all client pathways flow 

through our central system, to be executed 
consistently and efficiently

•	Continuous innovation and development 
of our technology stack with £90m+ capital 
expenditure invested over the past 10 years

A POWERFUL GLOBAL 
PROCESSING ENGINE BUILT FOR 
PURPOSE
•	Direct and fast integration with 16 liquidity 

providers for instant cross-currency execution, 
ensuring resilience and competitive quotes

•	The proprietary nature of our platform allows 
for adaptable and agile integrations with 
payment and banking providers, providing 
an array of payment options for our clients

STRONG SECURITY AND COMPLIANCE
•	 Industry leading technology to prevent 

financial crime and provide robust security

•	Proprietary transaction monitoring system 
Soteria provides the backbone of our 
RegTech engine

•	 ISO 27001 accreditation on information security 
management reflecting our organisation-wide 
protection against technology-based risks and 
increased resilience to cyber attacks

DEVELOPING FOR THE FUTURE
Developments in recent years, including the 
current year payment integration solutions, 
demonstrate Moneycorp’s unique ability to 
combine our payment expertise with innovative 
technology. We continue to invest in solutions 
that address the evolving needs of global 
businesses, ensuring our clients benefit from 
both regulatory excellence and technological 
leadership in the financial services sector. 

Artificial Intelligence has emerged as a significant 
force for strategic insight, optimisation and 
efficiency. Moneycorp uses AI and Machine 
Learning (ML) today in a number of use cases 
to create value. As an example, our sales teams 
leverage machine learning models that have 
improved lead qualification accuracy, enabling 

more focused and productive client 
acquisition efforts. Across the organisation 
we have identified a number of opportunities 
for ongoing deployment of AI and ML across 
front and back-office processes.

Alongside maintaining and enhancing our core 
technology, a significant area of focus for 2025 
and beyond will also be investing in our future 
technology platform to support the infrastructure 
required of the US Bank. This platform will initially 
be developed for the launch of our US Bank 
however will ultimately be leveraged across the 
entire business, providing synergies to support 
growing transaction volumes while maintaining 
the reliability and security that clients expect from 
Moneycorp.

Our purpose-built, 
scalable technology 
platform is a key enabler to 
the Moneycorp difference. 

By combining technology with client satisfaction 
and regulatory compliance, our innovations 
ensure we deliver faster, safer and more transparent 
cross-border payments, ultimately enhancing 
experiences, fostering growth and boosting 
competitiveness for our clients.

TECHNOLOGY & INNOVATION
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OUR GLOBAL NETWORK AND REACH

A globally connected network, 
benefitting our clients
Our scalable platform, which operates within a seamless network 
of banking and liquidity partners and payment rails, supports 
our clients to thrive, scale and succeed beyond borders. 

Having our clients at the centre of all we do is one 
of our core values and ensures we continue to 
provide them with an extensive product offering and 
multi-channel approach to meet their needs. Since 
1979, we have built connections and relationships 
with regulators, liquidity providers and payment rail 
banking partners.

Our network is robust, diversified and provides 
reach that is challenging to replicate. Our network 
and platform encompasses: 

•	A panel of 16 global liquidity providers, 
including most major banks, which allows for 
real-time quotation and competitive pricing via 
e-auction processing.

•	A comprehensive network of 700+ corporate 
bank accounts allowing for fast and secure 
payments with uninterrupted global liquidity 
routing via all major schemes/networks. 

•	13 partner banks and payment providers 
who in turn have relationships with a network of 
correspondent banks, allowing payment access 
to over 130 currencies and 190 countries. 

•	Strong relationships with our regulators 
including the FCA, GFSC, FinCEN, Central Bank of 
Brazil and Central Bank of Ireland amongst others, 
allowing for a comprehensive range of relevant 
product solutions.

“	�We continue to develop our international 
network to realise our vision of global reach 
powered by local payment connectivity.” 

	 Richard Brice
	 Chief Financial Officer

CASE STUDY

PAYMENTS PARTNERSHIP
During the year we expanded our network, 
partnering with a leading provider of exotics 
currencies to broaden our holistic offering 
and further streamlining exotic payments, 
benefitting our core business and enabling us 
to further support existing and future clients. 

Through collaboration, we have developed a 
fully integrated solution with a high degree 
of compliance and operational automation, 
significantly reducing operational overheads 
associated with exotic currency transactions. 
The benefit for our clients is that they can 
now reach those harder to access currencies 
quicker, cheaper and more easily – making 
exotic international payments as seamless as 
local ones.

Through this new partnership we transacted 
31 different exotic currency pairs in 2024 and 
anticipate this to grow in 2025.

•	Our adaptive infrastructure and multi-channel 
approach offers 24/7 access and consistent 
service across time zones and borders. This allows 
clients to interact using solutions that are agile, 
precise and tailored to their unique preferences, 
whether that be: online via our website, with 
around the clock access and ability to trade in 

over 35 currencies; APIs which allow for seamless 
execution of trades; through a referring partner 
whose experience and trust in Moneycorp 
provides a level of confidence; or of course, an in 
person meeting, telephone call or email, where a 
Moneycorp cross-border payments experts can 
provide necessary guidance and support.
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PROTECTING OUR CLIENTS

Regulatory-first, 
rooted in resilience
Strong risk and compliance 
culture is a cornerstone of our 
business operations, ensuring 
operational resilience and 
security and safety for clients. 

Risk management and a low-tolerance risk 
culture is the backbone of Moneycorp’s operations. 
Our understanding and management of risk, 
including currency, settlement, operations, credit, 
regulatory, macro-economic – is a source of 
competitive advantage. 

Risk management 
Page 46

Our attitude to risk provides a solid foundation 
for regulatory alignment and compliance around 
the world. We have strong and constructive 
relationships across the regulatory landscape, 
supported by a well-invested in compliance 
team. Today we operate under 63 regulatory 
permissions: 62 licences (including two banking 
licences) spanning multiple jurisdictions as well 
as being an approved participant in the FBICS 
program. We have regional compliance teams 
for every market in which we operate, supported 
by Group oversight. 

Our regulatory credentials 
Page 27

We continue to invest in our RegTech engine to 
protect clients and ensure compliance with all 
regulatory requirements by utilising the latest 
specialist financial crime and cyber security 
technology. This has been advanced this year with 
the establishment of our Financial Intelligence 
Unit (FIU) (see below). We have a number of 
risk management tools in place to support 
our compliance function including transaction 
monitoring, fraud detection, payment screening 
and high-risk-jurisdiction (HRJ) screening amongst 
others. This investment is strategically critical in 
helping us maintain operational resilience and 
deliver regulatory excellence. 

Soteria, our in-house transaction monitoring 
system, provides for real-time monitoring of 
all client transactions via numerous different 
screening criteria such as client profile, currency, 
amount, etc., looking for deviations and identifies 
typologies associated with unusual, suspicious or 
fraudulent activity. 

During 2024, Soteria screened over 1 million 
payments with all payments which hit the 
monitoring criteria being stopped, real-time 
and reviewed prior to being released or blocked.

Our cyber security measures are best-in-class 
and ever-evolving. Our ISO 27001 accreditation in 
information security management recognises our 
organisation-wide protection against technology-
based risks and increased resilience to cyber-attacks, 
and our wider processes and controls are SOC2 
certified, validating that we are able to maintain 
robust security controls to protect client data from 
unauthorised access and breaches.

Safeguarding and protection of client funds is 
paramount. In line with jurisdictional licensing 
requirements, we hold sufficient cash assets 
and resources to fully protect clients’ funds which 
are also ring-fenced and segregated as required. 
This ensures our clients can have confidence in our 
operations and know that their assets are held with 
the utmost protection and security, at all times.

CASE STUDY

FINANCIAL INTELLIGENCE UNIT
 
What is the Financial Intelligence Unit?
A data-driven, analytical unit that complements 
existing risk and control compliance practices to 
ensure deep risk understanding and the safety and 
soundness of clients, colleagues and Moneycorp 
activities. The FIU also underpins Group physical 
safety and security objectives for Moneycorp 
employees, operations and facilities worldwide.

 
What is the overall unit’s objectives?
To leverage diverse qualitative and quantitative 
data to identify and mitigate potential risks to 
employees and assets, facilitate responsible 
business decisions, enabling Moneycorp to win 
new business and expand services to existing 
clients in challenging global markets. 

“	�Governance and compliance 
are embedded throughout our 
operations. With a rigorous risk 
management framework and 
internally developed compliance 
application and monitoring 
tools, Moneycorp is adaptable 
to a rapidly evolving regulatory 
landscape. This ensures our 
clients and exposure to financial 
markets are always protected.” 

	 Peter Green
	� General Counsel and Chief Risk and 

Compliance Officer
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Operating in a regulated industry, across many jurisdictions, 
requires the highest standards of regulatory compliance and 
a significant number of licences.

Comprehensive regulatory footprint

  

 UK 
  

 EUROPE
  

 NORTH AMERICA
  

 BRAZIL

Regulator/ Registrator UK: Financial Conduct 
Authority (FCA)
UAE: Dubai Financial 
Services Authority

Central Bank  
of Ireland

US: Financial Crimes and 
Enforcement Network 
(FinCEN)
Canada: Financial 
Transactions and Reports 
Analysis Centre (FINTRAC) 
and Revenu Québec

Central Bank of Brazil

Licences/Registrations UK: Payment Services 
Directive (PSD) 
Markets in Financial 
Instruments Regulations 
(MiFID)
UAE: Dubai International 
Financial Centre 
commercial licence

E-money1

MiFID1

US: Money Service Business 
(MSB) 
US: Money transmitter in 
49 US states (licence not 
required by Montana) and 
the District of Columbia
Canada: MSB payment 
services licence

FX bank licence 

Trading as TTT Moneycorp Limited
Moneycorp Financial Risk 
Management Limited

Moneycorp 
Technologies Limited

Moneycorp US Inc. Moneycorp Banco de 
Cambio S.A.

Allows us to offer Cross-border payments, risk management products and payment solutions

1	� Our two licences from the Central Bank of Ireland are passported across every country in Europe under ‘freedom of service’. Furthermore, we have obtained ‘freedom of establishment’ permissions from local regulators in Spain and France.  
These have not been counted separately within the 63 regulatory permissions referred to throughout this report.

	 For more detail on the licences held, please visit: www.moneycorp.com/en-gb/legal/regulatory-information/

PAYMENTS – CORPORATE AND PRIVATE

  

 �MONEYCORP 
BANK GIBRALTAR   

 FIG EMEA    FIG APAC

Gibraltar Financial Services 
Commission (GFSC)

GFSC
Federal Reserve Bank of 
New York
His Majesty’s Revenue and 
Customs (HMRC)

GFSC
Federal Reserve Bank 
of New York
Hong Kong Customs 
and Excise Department

Bank licence 
E-money
MiFID

Member of the Foreign 
Bank International Cash 
Services (FBICS) program
Money Service Business

Member of the 
FBICS program
Money Service 
Operator (MSO) licence 

Moneycorp Bank Limited Moneycorp Bank Limited 
Moneycorp (Hong Kong) 
Limited – UK branch

Moneycorp Bank Limited 
Moneycorp (Hong Kong) 
Limited 

Cross-border payments, 
risk management products, 
payment solutions,  
and 90-day notice accounts

Clearance and supply of physical currency, including 
US dollars, to commercial and central banks

PAYMENTS – FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

OUR REGULATORY CREDENTIALS

 60
Payment licences1

 2
Bank licences

 1
FBICS contract with the FRBNY
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OUR STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 

CLIENTS
Clients are at the heart of everything we do. Our focus remains on growing our core client base, 
streamlining the client journey and enhancing our client experience to further improve client 
engagement and deepen relationships.

PERFORMANCE
Consistent and predictable performance that delivers for all our shareholders is a key 
strategic pillar.

Culture
Strengthening our 
values, collaboration  
and accountability.

Clients
Focus on building deeper, 
stronger client relationships 
and being an integral 
business partner – 
expanding wallet share 
and growth opportunities.

Performance
Commitment to profitability, 
growth and KPIs. Focus on 
revenue generation and 
cost optimisation.

Disciplined 
Entrepreneurship 
Drive accountability 
and delivery across our 
strategic programmes.

Regulatory 
Be consistent and proactive in 
our ‘regulatory-first’ commitment 
to compliance and controls. 

Progress in 2024 

In support of scalable growth, we redefined an 
ideal client profile (ICP) based on our market 
positioning, value proposition, product offerings 
and differentiating capabilities. By redefining 
our client focus, embracing change and thinking 
creatively we are developing new products 
and services that meet the evolving needs of 
our clients.

We were pleased to see continued client 
engagement and satisfaction, with our Net 
Promoter Score (NPS) remaining stable at +72. 

Priorities for 2025 

•	Expand and build a best-in-class sales and 
dealing capability to grow our targeted ICP 
client base

•	Continue to refresh our go-to-market 
proposition to support new business 
revenue growth

•	Review and refine our client on-boarding 
process to ensure a seamless client journey

•	Continue to improve client engagement 
and satisfaction 

•	 Invest in our product capabilities to ensure 
continued relevance for clients

Progress in 2024 

Ensuring the sustainability of our business has 
been a priority as we deliver results for our 
shareholders, and all stakeholders. Across the 
globe, our sales teams embrace data analytics 
to optimise our client focus, and sustainable 
go-to-market strategies through pipeline 
management tools to deliver the best of 
Moneycorp to our clients. In 2024 we realised 
revenue growth from new and existing clients 
across a number of business units and, coupled 
with disciplined cost management, delivered 
Group EBITDA of £80m representing a 5% 
increase compared to prior year. 

Priorities for 2025 

•	Achieve organic revenue growth from 
our existing clients by enhancing 
client relationships, product cross-sell 
opportunities and growing wallet share

•	Deliver sustainable revenue and EBITDA 
growth by optimising our core business

•	Have a disciplined management of costs 
and targeted investment

Making significant progress as we embed our strategic 
priorities across the organisation to support future growth.Embedding our strategic pillars

Chief Financial Officer’s review 
Page 16
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Moneycorp’s Private segment continues to be an 
important strategic component of the wider business 
and serves HNWIs who prefer a personalised approach 
to their cross-border payments.

Payments – Private

BUSINESS REVIEW CONTINUED

SEGMENT OVERVIEW 
Payments – Private is primarily focused on serving 
HNWIs across our four main geographic hubs, 
where clients need to carry out sizeable foreign 
currency transactions and manage associated risks. 
These transactions typically involve purchasing 
second homes, funding international education 
and healthcare, or buying luxury items. Our clients 
can execute trades via their dedicated relationship 
manager, who will guide them through the 
intricacies of cross-border payments, or our user-
friendly digital platform, Moneycorp online, which 
is available 24/7. Moneycorp online allows clients 
to track payments, secure favourable exchange 
rates and set up a Regular Payment Plan any time. 

2024 PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
In 2024 we supported over 21k HNWI clients 
across the UK, Europe, North America and Brazil 
to make cross-border transactions. 

Our Private segment achieved mixed results 
in the year. The 12% revenue decline in the UK 
was partially driven by continued elevated global 
interest rates and persistent inflation, damping 
international purchases, as well as a reduction in 
new client acquisition partly due to the quantity 
and effectiveness of marketing. All other regions 
saw single-digit revenue growth during the year, 
resulting in the overall 7% decline for the segment. 
Payments Private contributed £20.7m of revenue 
and £9.0m of EBITDA to the Group, a 7% and 
11% reduction on prior year respectively.

Although our Private segment’s contribution 
to EBITDA is relatively small, compared to our 
Corporate and FI segments, it continues to be 
an important strategic component of the wider 
Moneycorp business generating both profits 
and cash flow.

We are committed to the continued success of 
the Private business and are investing in the future. 
Early in 2025, we appointed a new Global Head of 
Private Clients, who brings significant and senior 
experience from the private client sector, as well as 
appointing a new Chief Marketing Officer in 2024. 
Both these appointments are important to drive 
the strategic direction of our Private business. 

PAYMENTS – PRIVATE BY BUSINESS UNIT
2024
£000

2023
£000

Growth
£000

Growth
%

Revenue
UK 13,629 15,452 (1,823) (12%)
Europe 2,555 2,469 86 3%
North America 2,958 2,761 197 7%
Brazil 1,535 1,434 101 7%
Total 20,677 22,116 (1,439) (7%)
EBITDA Contribution
UK 6,662 7,678 (1,016) (13%)
Europe 1,238 1,504 (266) (18%)
North America 1,062 960 102 11%
Brazil (1) (117) 116 n.m.
Total 8,961 10,025 (1,064) (11%)
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BUSINESS REVIEW CONTINUED

OUR REGIONS
As a result of the Group’s history, we have a well-
established client base in the UK, and as a business 
segment, our revenue is predominantly generated 
from this region. We are however also focused 
on expanding our Private business in the US, and 
other, newer regions including Canada and Brazil. 
This expansion of our global footprint aligns with 
the Group’s overall strategy of enhancing our global 
presence.

OUR CLIENTS
We tend to see different transaction patterns, 
compared to other segments, across our Payments 
– Private client base. This is because HNWIs often 
engage in one-off, significant asset purchases such as 
second homes or other luxury items only, followed by 
subsequent smaller recurring transactions such as for 
mortgage payments or maintenance. 

As a result, transaction sizes tend to be higher for 
the first client trade, with subsequent activities at 
significantly lower amounts. Client revenue retention 
is a less relevant measure for the Private business 
segment given the nature of client trading, with new 
client business being essential for the segment. 
During the year, 48% (2023: 48%) of revenue was 
generated from new business, with 6,000 new 
clients added, and 52% from existing clients.

OUR PRODUCTS
In our Payments – Private segment, the majority 
of our clients tend to opt for spot trades as their 
preferred product (83% of revenue is generated 
from spot transactions). The product mix remained 
similar to prior years with a small, but significant, 
portion of our clients opting for forwards to help 
make the most of fast-moving currency markets, 
whilst effectively managing their risk.

GBP/EUR was the most traded currency pair in 
2024, driven by the flow of clients within the UK 
business unit, followed by GBP/USD.

NEW AND EXISTING REVENUE
	Existing	 52%
	New	 48%

REVENUE BY PRODUCT TYPE
	Spot	 83%
	Forward	 14%
	Other	 3%

FLOW BY CURRENCY PAIR
	GBP/EUR	 41%
	GBP/USD 	 20%
	USD/EUR	 13%
	USD/CAD 	 2%
	Other	 24%

FLOW

 2024 £1.8bn 

 2023 £1.8bn 

 2022 £2.1bn 

CASE STUDY

PRIVATE CLIENT PROPERTY SALE
Challenge: Steven wanted to transfer and 
convert inheritance funds at a competitive 
foreign exchange rate but was unsure of the 
most cost-effective and hassle-free way to 
transfer funds. He was also concerned that 
his US bank would not allow him to make 
such a large international payment to the UK.
Solution: Leveraging Moneycorp’s global 
network, expertise and capabilities we helped 
Steven set up a market order trade, just one 
of our innovative FX tools. This allowed him 
to book an automatic trade, triggered when 
his preferred rate was reached. Our foreign 
exchange experts kept in close contact with 
Steven throughout the process, updating 
him on market movements, allowing him 
to maintain control confidently.
Result: Significant savings on the rate of 
exchange for converting the inheritance 
funds – the rate Steven achieved with 
Moneycorp represented a 2% saving 
compared to the rate quoted by his local 
high street bank.
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Through its global reach and active participation in the 
Federal Reserve Bank of New York (FRBNY) Foreign Bank 
International Cash Services (FBICS) program, Moneycorp 
offers an extensive platform to service our central and 
commercial bank client banknote needs.

Payments – Financial Institutions

BUSINESS REVIEW CONTINUED

SEGMENT OVERVIEW 
The Payments – FI segment comprises of two main 
business units – Moneycorp Bank and Financial 
Institutions Group (FIG), which is further divided into 
two operational business units – the Europe, Middle 
East and Africa (EMEA) business (managed from 
London) which serves clients worldwide; and the 
Asia-Pacific (APAC) business (managed from Hong 
Kong) which serves clients in Asia. 

Moneycorp Bank is a licensed bank based in 
Gibraltar offering payment and foreign exchange 
services similar our other Payments segments. 
In addition, it offers notice deposit accounts to 
businesses and individuals. 

Through our banking license in Gibraltar, 
Moneycorp’s FIG business specialises in the 
clearance and supply of wholesale physical 
currency globally. As one of only two non-US banks 
with direct access to the FRBNY via FBICS, we source 
US dollar notes at parity. This enables FIG to act as 
a payments gateway for the global international 
movements of physical US dollars, ensuring the safe 
distribution of banknotes to various central banks 
and financial institutions worldwide. Over the years, 
Moneycorp FIG has also become a meaningful 
secondary distributor of Euro and other currencies.

Our FIG platform creates value to stakeholders 
by seamlessly connecting suppliers and financial 
institutions, facilitating international liquidity 
distribution of various currencies. We achieve this 
through strategic partnerships with the FRBNY 
and other secondary suppliers which allows us to 
provide competitive rates to our clients, and an array 
of leading third-party cash-in-transit (CIT) providers 
to execute the seamless movement of liquidity 
around the globe.

The business is supported through a disciplined 
approach to compliance and security, benefitting 
from the wider Group’s network and expertise. 

2024 PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
Over recent years, Moneycorp has established 
itself as a key partner to clients in the primary 
wholesale currency market. We reported steady and 
robust results for 2024, with revenue of £120.3m 
and EBITDA contribution of £60.4m representing 
growth of 5% and 2% respectively compared to 
the prior year. 

PAYMENTS – FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS BY BUSINESS UNIT
2024
£000

2023
£000

Growth
£000

Growth
%

Revenue
FIG EMEA 93,978 94,318 (340) –
FIG APAC 13,687 9,832 3,855 39%
Moneycorp Bank 12,664 10,122 2,542 25%
Total 120,329 114,272 6,057 5%
EBITDA Contribution
FIG EMEA 46,797 49,603 (2,806) (6%)
FIG APAC 6,131 3,984 2,147 54%
Moneycorp Bank 7,482 5,493 1,989 36%
Total 60,410 59,080 1,330 2%

In 2024 our FIG business supported over 250 
clients, executing £59.9bn of flow across 70+ 
currencies. Growth was achieved through strong 
client retention rates, successful annualisation of 
2023’s new client cohort and on-boarding clients 
across a number of new geographies – in particular 
in APAC where we realised growth in both US dollar 
and Asian currencies. Whilst the FIG business 
has a smaller client base compared to the other 
segments, we are pleased to see our revenue 
continue to diversify – both geographically and 
across our clients. 

Moneycorp Bank delivered a strong performance, 
with revenue growth and improved profitability. 
Revenue grew by 25% year-on-year, benefitting 
from higher interest income from client deposits 
and growing FX trading income across both new 
and established clients. The business also achieved 
EBITDA growth of 36% year-on-year, demonstrating 
disciplined entrepreneurship and cost management. 

“	�... The process of signing up with Moneycorp really 
showed us that integrity is at the heart of the business 
and demonstrated to us that we were doing something 
right by choosing them as our banknotes supplier. 
A major USP for us using Moneycorp has been the 
direct access to the Federal Reserve...” 

	 Chief Executive Officer
	 International Bureau
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BUSINESS REVIEW CONTINUED

OUR REGIONS
The Payments – FI business operates across a 
wide range of geographic locations, with a specific 
focus on emerging markets where the US dollar is 
an important reserve currency. This diverse mix of 
clients across the world is considered essential to 
the continued success of the business and, during 
2024, we successfully expanded our operations, 
particularly in Asia. The 54% increase in FIG APAC’s 
EBITDA is a result of our growing operations in the 
region and aligns with our strategy to broaden our 
reach and enhance our service delivery to meet the 
growing demands of our international clients.

OUR CLIENTS
We have a diversified client base, primarily consisting 
of central and commercial banks, however, we also 
serve a smaller number of FX bureaux, corporates 
and non-governmental organisations. With 71% 
of client flow being derived from commercial 
banks, it was the largest client category served in 
2024. Within this, there is a wide range of client 
geographies, deal types and reasons for trade. 

Central banks make up the second largest 
client category, accounting for 17% of our clients, 
while the remaining clients are a mix of other 
liquidity wholesalers, FX bureaux and non-
governmental organisations.

OUR PRODUCTS AND CURRENCY MIX
Since obtaining access to the FBICS program 
and becoming a primary supplier of US dollars, 
the majority of client trades are US dollar related, 
although clients also being able to trade in other 
currencies is a critical differentiating factor. In 
2024, US dollar flows accounted for 91% of all 
flows. Additionally, the FIG business acts as a 
secondary provider, supplying and clearing non-
US dollar currencies to our client base that have 
no direct access to central banks. This made up 
the remaining 9% of flow for the year. 

In 2024, 61% of the total flow came from 
Moneycorp supplying bank notes to clients and 
the remaining 39% came from clients selling 
back excess banknotes.

FIG FLOW BY CLIENT TYPE 
	Commercial Banks	 71%
	Central Banks	 17%
	Corporates, 

	 Non-Government
	 Organisations 
	 and Bureaux	 11%

	Others 	 1%

FIG FLOW BY PRODUCT TYPE
	Client buy	 61%
	Client sell	 39%

FIG FLOW BY CURRENCY PAIR
	USD/USD	 91%
	EUR/EUR 	 5%
	GBP/GBP	 2%
	Other 	 2%

PAYMENTS FI – FLOW

 2024 £60.8bn 

 2023 £54.1bn 

 2022 £52.4bn 
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OUR PEOPLE AND CULTURE 

A global 
workplace with  
a positive culture
We continue to foster our 
recently launched values 
which form the foundation 
of all that we do.

“�Moneycorp’s continued growth 
and evolution as a business 
means we are not only 
able to offer a unique client 
proposition in the market, 
but we also offer exciting and 
challenging career opportunities 
for talent. Matching career 
stages with business growth 
helps us to retain our talent and 
recognise their contribution to 
our journey.” 
 
Tanya Lightbody  
Group Chief Human Resources Officer (CHRO)

 627
full time equivalents1

 40+
nationalities 

 11
countries 

 +18
employee NPS (eNPS) 

DEFINING OUR CULTURE
Our culture is driven by our mission and 
underpinned by our five core values. These values 
shape our communication and engagement 
with clients and set clear expectations for our 
colleagues. We are committed to empowering 
our clients and reducing friction in cross-
border payments. It is crucial that everyone 
at Moneycorp shares our goals and feels 
genuinely invested in our shared purpose.

Our people collectively share the responsibility 
of making Moneycorp a success; they are our 
most valuable asset and our best defence of our 
client’s interests. It is therefore important that 
Moneycorp has a high-performance culture that 
works for everyone. Throughout 2024 we have 
continued to build on our culture and sense of 
belonging, and this is showing in our employee 
opinion results.

ENGAGEMENT AND 
INCLUSION INITIATIVES 
At Moneycorp, our people embody our values 
daily, whether through operational excellence 
or a client-oriented approach. Equally important 
is our value of “Belonging”, which fosters a safe, 
supportive environment and supports our Group-
wide Environmental, Social and Governance 
(ESG) initiatives.

Throughout the year, our colleagues organised 
events to celebrate diversity and success, and 
to identify areas for improvement. Major events 
included International Women’s Day, with Coffee 
Mornings for dialogue on female empowerment; 
Pride Month, featuring a webinar on belonging, 
advocacy, allyship, and diversity; Black History 
Month, with live interviews to celebrate the rich 
cultures of individuals and people of colour; Pink 
October to raise awareness around breast cancer; 
and Movember, where we raised funds for men’s 
mental health with the Moneycorp team running 
and walking over 400km. 

Our approach to ESG 
Page 40

EMPLOYEE OPINION 
SURVEYS
We listen to our people, implementing 
actions from our Employee Opinion Surveys 
to continue to strengthen our culture.

Overall, the Group has increased eNPS scores2 
from +8 to +18, with teamwork being our 
strongest area, evidenced by 92% of colleagues 
being proud members of their team.

How people feel:

 71%
Trust in senior leadership being transparent 
(20%pts increase)

 74%
Understand company goals and objectives 
(7%pts increase)

 92%
are proud members of their team  
(+1%pt increase)

“�Culture has seen huge 
strides forwards in the last 
year and it is obvious that 
leadership are invested in 
seeing that continuously 
improved. This is greatly 
appreciated and is an 
obvious, tangible example 
of leadership actively taking 
steps to make Moneycorp an 
even better place to work.”

	 Anonymous
	 Employee Opinion Survey

OUR VALUES 
Belonging
We conduct ourselves with integrity, 
fostering a culture of respect. We build off 
strengths that emerge from embracing 
diverse perspectives. 

Excellence
We aim for excellence in everything we 
do, underpinned by strong governance, 
responsible leadership, and high-quality 
products and services. 

Accountability
We believe in clear accountability, taking 
responsibly for the work we do to achieve our 
strategic goals, to meet and exceed regulatory 
requirements, and to play an active role in the 
communities we work in. 

Client-orientated
We strive to exceed client expectations and 
put them at the heart of everything we do. 
We listen to their feedback and fine-tune our 
proposition to meet their core needs. 

Entrepreneurship
We embrace innovation, striking a balance 
of creative solutions with strategic execution. 
We are bold but pragmatic, taking an 
informed, risk-based and data-driven 
approach to decision making. We foster 
a culture where new ideas are embraced, 
and success is celebrated.

1	 FTE for continuing operations, as at December 2024.
2	� eNPS score based on question “How likely is it that you 

would recommend Moneycorp to a friend or family”.
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OUR PEOPLE AND CULTURE CONTINUED

BELONGING AND INCLUSION 
Across our business we champion diversity, equity and 
inclusivity, and continue to place unwavering focus 
on driving positive change within Moneycorp. Our 
workforce is diverse in terms of age and nationality. 
Although British nationals continue to be our 
most prominent demographic due to our flagship 
business unit and the majority of our support 
functions being based in the UK, this percentage 
is decreasing every year as we expand globally. 

As is often seen in the financial services industry, 
our workforce is more heavily weighted towards 
men than women. We are aware of this and 
continue to progress initiatives to increase the 
number of female employees and eliminate any 
potential unconscious bias. We remain committed 
to empowering the women we currently have in 
our teams including via our mentoring programme 
and Women-in-Tech initiative.

DIVERSITY, EQUITY AND 
INCLUSION STATEMENT 
We are strongly committed to fair employment 
practices and do not tolerate discrimination 
based on age, sex, gender, sexual orientation, 
race, ethnicity, culture or disability. The Group 
provides reasonable accommodations for job 
applicants with disabilities during the recruitment 
process and ensures that disabled employees have 
access to ongoing training, career development 
and advancement opportunities. 

APPRENTICE PROGRAMME
At Moneycorp, we are proud to support 
apprenticeships, reflecting our commitment 
to fostering talent, promoting diversity, and 
investing in the development of future leaders. 
In 2023, we partnered with Multiverse to deliver 
our apprenticeship programme. We are pleased 
to report the achievements of our early careers’ 
apprenticeship programme, with 16 apprentices 
successfully completing the Digital Business 
Accelerator Level 3 Qualification towards the end 
of 2024. We are delighted to see them progress 
to full-time, permanent positions with Moneycorp 
and look forward to their continued development.

REWARD AND RECOGNITION
It is imperative that we attract, motivate, develop and 
retain top talent. Operating in a highly competitive 
global marketplace, which includes publicly listed 
and private FinTech companies, Neobanks, and 
traditional financial services firms, necessitates that 
Moneycorp offers competitive total compensation 
and recognises the achievements of our people.

We ensure that each role has appropriate, 
competitive compensation based on the seniority 
and role description. Our people also participate 
in commissions schemes, in our sales and dealing 
teams, or an annual discretionary bonus scheme, 
which aligns compensation with the annual 
performance of the Group, as well as an individual’s 
business or function, and personal performance. 

BREAKDOWN OF STAFF  
BY GENDER

Executive
	Male	 10
	Female	 3

Total	 13

Senior leaders1

	Male	 53
	Female	 23

Total	 76

All staff
	Male	 420
	Female	 207

Total	 627

1	� Senior leaders defined as direct reports of the 
executive team.

BREAKDOWN OF STAFF  
BY AGE

 19-24

 25-29

 30-34

 35-39

 40-44

 45-49

 50-54

 55-59

 60+

8% 

17% 

16% 

15% 

13% 

13% 

9% 

5% 

4% 

In 2024, we have also introduced several awards 
which look to recognise and celebrate outstanding 
contributions. These include our quarterly Spotlight 
awards and our BEACON value awards, which 
enhance recognition across the business by 
celebrating colleagues who exemplify our company 
values and highlight the direct link between values-
driven performance and overall success. Individuals 
(or teams) are nominated by members of the 
Executive Committee and are celebrated in our 
global townhall meetings. 

Opportunities for internal career growth have also 
increased during the year by 14% compared to last 
year, evidence of our commitment to nurturing 
talent from within.
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We recognise that as 
a business, we have a 
responsibility to contribute 
positively to society and 
encourage meritocracy.

Aligning success  
with corporate  
responsibility

OUR APPROACH TO ESG 

OUR GUIDING BELIEFS ARE 
•	Businesses have the power to make a positive 

impact on the world;

•	We must invest in our planet;
•	The individual has the power to effect change; and
•	Well-governed businesses outperform and are 

more resilient. 
We strongly believe in the principles of good 
governance and take responsibility for the impact 
our operations have on the communities where 
we operate, and on the world at large.

EMPOWERING WOMEN 
We are committed to fostering a culture of 
belonging and empowerment for women 
across the globe.

During the year we celebrated International 
Women’s Day, hosted a number of events 
and successfully expanded our mentoring 
programme with a focus on empowering 
women at Moneycorp. More specifically, 
our achievements included: 

•	Hosting a women-only event with an 
inspirational guest-speaker facilitating 
a group discussion centred on female 
empowerment at Moneycorp

•	Celebrating International Women’s Day 
including Group-wide nominations shared 
on the achievements of women within 
our organisation

•	Extending our Women’s Mentoring 
Programme to North America after a 
successful UK pilot in 2023

•	 In Brazil, our well-established women’s 
network held regular events, inviting guest 
speakers to address issues of interest or 
concern to women

TACKLING STREET HOMELESSNESS
We have made it a priority to address the issue 
of street homelessness through our social 
initiatives. We continued to support The Passage, 
a charity located in Central London, in 2024 with 
a day-long street charity collection, and donations 
from our staff Christmas Jumper Day. In the 
US we worked with a local charity CrossRoads, 
volunteering at their foodbank, donating 
gifts at Christmas and meals at Thanksgiving. 
In Brazil we supported the Salvation Army 
with their Warm Clothing Campaign and 
donated gifts to children for Christmas.

PROTECTING THE  
ENVIRONMENT
As part of our commitment to sustainability, we 
are dedicated to achieving net zero emissions 
ahead of the UK government’s 2050 target. We 
will prioritise initiatives that align with our ethical 
beliefs and are likely to result in significant social 
and environmental benefits. In Brazil we are 
a member of the Abracam (Brazilian Foreign 
Exchange Association) ESG Committee. 

Our environmental commitments are set out 
in our Group policy and strategy. We recognise 
the risks and opportunities associated with 
the transition to a low-carbon economy. We 
are committed to using science-based targets 
to lower our carbon footprint. To this end, a 
Climate Strategy and Route to Net Zero Plan will 
be completed by the end of 2025.

Some specific achievements in 2024 included: 
•	Worktime volunteering in partnership with 

our building waste management company 
to remove discarded waste from the River 
Thames in London 

•	Reducing our environmental impact by limiting 
business travel to essential requirements only, 
and utilising less harmful modes of transport, 
when practical to do so

•	An Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme (ESOS) 
Phase 3 report was completed in line with 
UK regulatory reporting, with an action plan 
developed to further reduce energy use.

CASE STUDY

WOMEN-IN-TECH 
An employee-led group for ‘Women in 
Technology’ formed in 2023, sponsored by Srini 
Kasturi (Chief Technology Officer), providing 
incredible support, shared experience and 
advice to women operating in a business area 
that has been traditionally predominantly male. 
Since its establishment, the group’s efforts 
have focused on recruiting, supporting and 
retaining talented women, and promoting the 
opportunities Moneycorp offers women who 
seek a technology career path, resulting in the 
number of technology roles held by women 
growing significantly.
The group meets on a regular basis, 
discussing the unique challenges they face, 
celebrating the successes of members and 
hosting panel events with external guests.
In November 2024, Pam Nandhra, the 
group founder, was a finalist in the 
Outstanding Advocate of Women-in-Tech 
category of the Women-in-Tech Awards, 
recognition of the positive impact the group 
is having at Moneycorp.

OUR THREE STRATEGIC PILLARS OF ESG

EMPOWERING WOMEN 
TACKLING STREET HOMELESSNESS
PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT
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OUR APPROACH TO ESG CONTINUED

MONITORING AND REDUCING 
OUR EMISSIONS 
Reducing emissions
We are implementing internal measures to reduce 
our carbon footprint actively. This includes adopting 
energy-efficient technologies and processes to 
minimise emissions directly under our control. 
Examples include: 

•	A salary sacrifice scheme for electric cars and a 
cycle-to-work programme available to all UK staff 
to reduce green-house gas (GHG) emissions.

•	Revised our travel policy with economy now being 
the default class of travel. The driver for this was to 
reduce carbon emissions by reducing the number 
of trips taken and ensuring necessary travel was 
less harmful environmentally (given that business 
class travel causes higher carbon emissions). 

•	Waste reduction initiatives continue – for example 
100% of electricity used in our Head Office is 
produced from a renewable resource and less 
than 1% of waste generated ends up in landfill.

•	Conducting independent audits and reporting 
to identify areas for further reductions across 
our estate. 

Streamlined energy and carbon 
reporting (SECR) 
The Group follows the SECR requirements for large 
unquoted companies, as outlined in The Companies 
(Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships 
(Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations 2018 in the 
UK, as a guideline to undertake GHG reporting. 

Scope 
Management assessed all fuel and electricity 
consumption activities across all global sites that 
contribute to overall energy use, and determined 
that the following sources of emissions would be 
recorded in line with SECR guidelines: 

•	natural gas consumption from buildings where we 
have operational control over the boilers (Scope 1); 

•	 fuel consumption from vehicles that are owned or 
controlled by the Group (Scope 1); 

•	natural gas consumption from leased buildings 
where we do not have operational control over 
the boilers (Scope 2); and 

•	electricity consumption including from leased 
buildings (Scope 2). 

Emissions from business travel in rental cars 
or employee-owned vehicles, where the Group 
purchases or reimburses for the fuel, is deemed to 
be Scope 3 and therefore not included in the GHG 
emissions below. For transparency however we have 
disclosed our energy consumption from this travel.

GHG emissions 2024 2023

GHG 
Emissions 

(tCO2e)

GHG 
Emissions 
Intensity 

(tCO2e/FTE)

GHG 
Emissions 

(tCO2e)

GHG 
Emissions 
Intensity 

(tCO2e/FTE)

Emissions source
Scope 1 (direct) 35.5 0.06 40.4 0.06 
Scope 2 (energy indirect) 137.0 0.21 145.0 0.23 
Total 172.5 0.27 185.4 0.29 

Energy consumption 2024 2023
Energy 

consumption 
(kWh)

Energy 
Intensity 

(kWh/FTE)

Energy 
consumption 

(kWh)

Energy 
Intensity 

(kWh/FTE)

Source of energy consumption
Emissions from business travel in 
company controlled vehicles (Scope 1)  147,241  228.3   166,733  267.6 
Natural gas controlled by leased building 
managers (Scope 2)  79,986  124.0   136,920  219.8 
Purchased electricity (Scope 2)  591,135  916.5   579,344  929.9 
Emissions from business travel in  
rental cars or employee-owned  
vehicles (Scope 3)  77,790  120.6   209,838  336.8 
Total  896,152  1,389.4   1,092,835  1,754.1 

The method used for calculating GHG emissions is in line with the GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and 
Reporting Standard. Energy consumption figures in kWh were obtained from electricity invoices for each relevant site. 
Consumption through the use of fuel was obtained through spend data which was converted into mileage figures. 
Energy consumption and mileage figures have been converted into tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e) 
and kWh respectively. Average Group FTE for the year has been used as the denominator to calculate the associated 
GHG emission intensity. 

2024 emissions 
In 2024 our GHG emissions and energy consumption decreased compared to 2023. This was primarily driven by 
lower natural gas usage in our main HQ office in London as a result of building-wide reductions in boiler use, and 
a reduction in emissions from vehicle-based business travel, in particular in Romania as we looked to wind-down 
operations. We continue to implement measures to reduce our emissions with the objective to see a continued 
decline in our intensity metrics going forward. We are also gathering data to start better understanding our wider 
Scope 3 emissions as part of our up and downstream activities.

GHG EMISSIONS AND ENERGY CONSUMPTION 
The Group’s Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions and total energy consumption associated with 
its global operations are outlined below.
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Building lasting relationships and 
creating value for all stakeholders

OUR STAKEHOLDERS 

CASE STUDY

UNITED STATES EXPANSION
A key strategic initiative is our expansion into 
the United States in the form of a US Bank, with 
great progress made in 2024. This expansion, 
once fully operational, offers multiple advantages 
including enhancing our ability to provide seamless 
direct access to US dollars for our clients and 
strengthening our growth strategy within a robust 
regulatory framework.

STAKEHOLDERS IMPACTED
•	Clients

•	Regulators

•	Business Partners and Suppliers

•	Colleagues

•	Shareholders

“�The opportunities unlocked by 
extending our banking license 
footprint will meaningfully 
improve our reach and 
relevance for our clients.” 
 
Adam Jones 
Chair

Clients
Why they are important
Moneycorp’s clients are at the heart of our 
business. We are committed to prioritising 
their best interests and establishing ongoing 
communication with them. To achieve our 
strategic objectives and establish a sustainable 
business for the long term, it is crucial for us 
to understand our clients’ priorities and treat 
them fairly and with transparency.

How we engage with them
•	Our commitment to treating our clients 

fairly, including providing transparent and 
comprehensible information, is an integral 
part of our corporate culture.

•	We maintain clear lines of accountability for 
client relationships and proactively engage with 
them to ensure their requirements are met.

•	We communicate with our clients regularly, 
tailored to their preferred method of contact, 
be it email, telephone, face-to-face meetings, 
or senior management visits.

•	We keep our clients informed about market 
developments that are relevant to them 
through a variety of channels.

What we have heard
•	Prioritising client needs and tailoring 

solutions for maximum value is crucial.

•	Comprehensive international coverage 
is essential.

•	Trust is built with robust security and 
regulatory adherence.

•	Technology for secure transactions is vital.
Seamless integration of new features ensures 
stability and continuity.

Our actions in 2024
•	Held client round tables to receive 

feedback on the products and services  
we offer.

•	Refreshed our website and go-to-market 
materials, ensuring clients have up-to-date 
and relevant knowledge on product offerings, 
tailored to their unique needs.

•	Provided frequent and regular news briefs on 
important market and macroeconomic updates 
to clients as well as hosted monthly webinars.

•	Attended various events and expos to engage 
with clients.

•	Continued to track client satisfaction surveys, 
generating a strong and consistent NPS of +72.

Our strategic priorities 
Page 28

Moneycorp Annual Report and Accounts 202442

Overview Strategic report Governance Financial statements Other information



OUR STAKEHOLDERS CONTINUED

Colleagues
Why they are important
We recognise that our colleagues are our most 
valuable asset. We understand the importance 
of attracting the right people and continuing to 
develop and motivate them. Our investment in 
people ensures their wellbeing and protects and 
strengthens our culture.

Regulators
Why they are important
As a financial services provider, we are subject 
to regulatory requirements across various 
jurisdictions. Maintaining full compliance with 
these regulations is crucial for our clients, the 
safety of their funds and the continuity of our 
business operations.

How we engage with them
•	We keep our colleagues informed about important 

developments that affect our business operations 
regularly and openly, including at least quarterly 
global townhalls hosted by the Group CEO.

•	We place great importance on developing our 
talent pool by investing in our people. Colleague 
training is offered at all levels, and fostering 
colleague development is a key priority.

•	We also provide our colleagues with an Employee 
Assistance Programme, which is an independent 
and confidential service that offers support, 
counsel and advice.

•	To support individual growth, colleagues 
have regular one-on-one meetings with their 
managers, and annual performance appraisals 
are conducted to set and track individual goals.

How we engage with them
•	We maintain a constructive and transparent 

dialogue with our regulators and ensure they are 
up to date on the business and our priorities. 

•	We regularly contribute to the discussions on 
regulatory objectives and priorities, how they 
impact our industry and the shape of our business.

What we have heard
•	Our colleagues want more emphasis on our 

values, with tangible examples of how they 
come to life day-to-day.

•	Training and development needs to be more 
widely accessible, encouraged and invested in.

•	Every employee wants to know their voice 
counts and that they are listened to, at all levels.

•	Ensuring fairness and equality is crucial to a 
thriving work environment and every single 
person needs to feel as though they belong 
at Moneycorp.

What we have heard
•	Proactive identification of potential cyber 

security threats are mitigated as quickly as 
possible, with additional layers of security for 
sensitive personal data.

•	Safeguarding of client assets is a key risk 
mitigation tool and underpins business and 
consumer confidence within the financial 
services industry.

•	Putting clients first by implementing enhanced 
standards of consumer protection drives 
innovation and education. 

•	 Improved European Market Infrastructure 
Regulation (EMIR) reporting of derivatives is 
a key to enhancing market transparency. 

•	Establishing strong operational and 
financial resilience frameworks, are crucial 
to building trust with clients, counterparties 
and stakeholders, in addition to preventing, 
mitigating and responding to risk events. 

Our actions in 2024
•	Hosted Group and regional townhall 

meetings for all colleagues to provide 
information on business performance 
and strategic priorities.

•	Supported 18 individuals through the 
Moneycorp Apprenticeship scheme, 
offering permanent positions to all.

•	Continued to build on our employee 
satisfaction survey to hear, and action, 
employee feedback. This included increased 
frequency of 1:1s and an enhanced focus 
on training and development, in response 
to this feedback.

•	Continued to embed our core Moneycorp 
values, led by our internal Value Champions, 
including having BEACON spotlight awards 
presented at our quarterly Group-wide  
townhalls.

Our actions in 2024
•	Established the FIU aimed at identifying, 

mitigating and managing potential threats 
to the business operations worldwide by 
providing unique expert analysis of geopolitical, 
criminal, regulatory and compliance risks. 

•	Continued to invest in our RegTech 
engine, Soteria.

•	Engaged proactively with all regulators 
regarding the Group’s key initiatives and 
regulatory changes. 

•	Provided regular detailed reporting, such 
as to the FRBNY, to ensure traceability and 
transparency of fund flows.

•	Proactively engaged with US regulators as we 
progressed our US bank application and begun 
the mobilisation for a wholesale uninsured bank 
in the US in 2025.

Our people and culture 
Page 38

Our regulatory credentials  
Page 27
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS CONTINUED

Business partners  
and suppliers
Why they are important
Our partners and suppliers, including banking 
counterparties, referral partners and third-party 
vendors, are integral to our success. We work 
with best-in-class suppliers and partners, who 
understand our unique offering and strategic 
goals, allowing us to amplify our capabilities 
and efficiencies in delivering a leading service 
to our clients.

Community
Why they are important
As a global organisation, we value community 
engagement and strive to make a positive 
impact.

How we engage with them
•	We build long-term relationships with our 

key suppliers and partners. 

•	We continuously engage with key suppliers 
to ensure alignment on requirements and 
expectations.

•	We undertake appropriate due diligence during 
the onboarding of third-party service providers 
with subsequent due diligence completed based 
on our internal risk assessment.

•	We foster strong relationships with banking 
counterparties through high governance 
standards and clear communication channels.

How we engage with them
•	We have a focus on charitable giving 

with colleagues from across the Group 
driving initiatives.

•	We work with local partners on initiatives 
to support environmental activities.

•	We actively engage in programmes to 
increase financial literacy in our communities.

What we have heard
•	Operational resilience is crucial to building 

trust in commercial relationships.

•	Clear communication and transparent 
operating models ensure that business 
partners and suppliers can make informed 
decisions, fostering confidence and 
supporting the business’s long-term growth.

What we have heard
•	There has to be a commitment to empowering 

women and promoting gender equality, 
ensuring that all employees have equal 
opportunities to succeed and contribute to the 
organisation’s growth.

•	The social issue of street homelessness persists, 
and implementing initiatives that provide 
support and resources to those in need has 
never been more important.

•	Moneycorp has a duty to be sustainable and 
environmentally responsible, ensuring that 
its operations contribute positively to the 
community and the environment.

Our actions in 2024
•	Maintained open communication through 

face-to-face meetings and where appropriate 
tracked and monitored relationships through 
KPIs and service level agreements (SLAs).

•	The Board received regular updates on core 
performance KPIs.

•	Continued to enhance our payment network 
partners to ensure we have a diverse range of 
providers and that we are optimising payment 
methods and fees.

•	Sponsored the 2024 Banknote conference, 
promoting secure and sustainable currency 
production, as well as deepening our 
understanding of the evolving needs and 
challenges faced by our partners and clients.

Our actions in 2024
•	The first full year of our Women-in-Tech 

network, promoting and supporting women 
operating in a business area that has been 
traditionally predominantly male.

•	Supported local organisations in our mission to 
tackle street homelessness and green clean-up 
initiatives.

•	Made charitable donations to organisations 
aligned with our ESG pillars. A specific example 
of this was in Brazil where we coordinated a 
truck load of goods – clothes, hygiene products 
etc. to be delivered to victims of the devastating 
rains in Rio Grande do Sul. 

Global network and reach 
Page 25

Our approach to ESG 
Page 40
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS CONTINUED

Lenders and 
shareholders
Why they are important
Our lenders and shareholders provide crucial 
capital to support our business and its growth.

How we engage with them
•	Our relationships are transparent and built on 

mutual understanding. 

•	We adhere to the financial covenants and other 
obligations set out in the wider Moneycorp 
Group’s Senior Facilities Agreement to ensure 
our lenders remain informed.

•	We report key financial data on at least a 
monthly basis to our shareholders to ensure 
they are informed of our business performance.

What we have heard
•	Timely financial reporting is key to assessing 

the performance of the business.

•	Comprehensive commercial narrative and 
insightful commentary enhances raw data, 
enabling the assessment of reports within a 
broader context.

•	Disseminating insights and ensuring the 
perspectives of lenders and shareholders are 
acknowledged is vital for maintaining trust 
and securing future success.

Our actions in 2024
•	Our Finance team maintained frequent 

communication with our lenders and 
shareholders, providing monthly reporting 
packs, quarterly covenant reporting, and 
annual budget presentations.

•	Management periodically engaged with lenders 
to provide relevant trading updates, provide 
context for the presented results and share 
insights into the future of the business.

•	Our shareholders are also represented on 
the Board as Investor Directors.

Chief Financial Officer’s review 
Page 16
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RISK MANAGEMENT 

Risk management is an integral part 
of our business framework

The Group has established and embedded a risk 
management culture to identify and manage material 
business risks effectively across the organisation.

The Group’s risk management framework follows 
a three lines of defence model which includes 
management control, risk and compliance oversight 
functions, and independent assurance. All levels 
of the organisation, from the Board and executive 
committee down, hold responsibility for risk 
management. This distribution of responsibilities 
ensures that decisions regarding risk and return 
are made at the most suitable level, close to the 
business, while remaining subject to effective 
review and challenge. 

 1 

DAY-TO-DAY RISK MANAGEMENT BY 
BUSINESS AREAS AND FUNCTIONS
Designs and operationalises 
controls to mitigate risks. 
Establishes and maintains effective controls 
to mitigate risks and ensure compliance with 
internal policies and external regulations in 
their day-to-day operations. The first line of 
defence includes client-facing staff, managers, 
and business unit heads, who undertake 
activities that generate risk.

 2 

RISK DEPARTMENT 
COMPLIANCE DEPARTMENT 
Establishes risk management 
frameworks and monitors the 
effectiveness of controls.
Sets policies and procedures, monitor and 
report on the effectiveness of controls and risk 
management activities, and provide guidance 
on risk-related matters.

 3 

INTERNAL AUDIT
�Provides independent 
assurance to the Board on 
the efficiency of our controls.
Conducts risk-based audits to assess the 
adequacy and effectiveness of controls, 
identify areas for improvement and makes 
recommendations for remedial actions.

This review and challenge comes from business 
areas and functions, risk and compliance 
committees, and internal audit as well as the 
Group Board and its sub-committees.

GOVERNANCE
• �Subsidiary boards 

and committees
• Audit Committee • Risk Committee • Group Board

THREE LINES OF DEFENCE (LOD)

The responsibility for risk management resides at all levels.

Governance at a glance 
Page 56
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TREND INDICATORLINK TO STRATEGIC PILLARS

Stable Decreased IncreasedClients Performance Entrepreneurship Regulatory Culture

WHAT IS THE RISK RISK DESCRIPTIONS POSSIBLE IMPACT KEY CONTROLS AND MITIGATING ACTIONS TREND INDICATOR
 1 

Operational 
risk
Overseen by:
•	 Executive Committee
•	 Board Risk Committee
•	 Operations Committee 

(sub-committee of 
Executive Committee)

The risk of internal process failures, 
system malfunctions, inadequate 
staffing or management, and other 
related risks within the organisation. 
Management at all levels of the 
organisation and all personnel in the 
First Line of Defence are responsible for 
identifying, managing and controlling 
operational risk exposures, with 
supervision and guidance by our 
Second Line of Defence compliance 
and risk management teams.

Operational failures could cause client 
harm and may impact our reputation 
and client confidence in our brand. 
Any remediation work could result 
in financial costs, with operational 
down-time further impacting resiliency, 
revenue and profitability.

•	 Effective internal controls ensured through well-designed organisational 
structures, in line with our enterprise risk management framework. 

•	 Risk framework tools and systems are designed to minimise the risk of 
failing to achieve business objectives and, where residual risks remain, 
to provide transparency and clear escalation paths to ensure proactive 
risk management by the appropriate executive body.

•	 Operational budgets include appropriate investment levels to maintain 
operational resiliency including, but not limited to, critical systems and 
processes, to safeguard clients, to protect client data, and to train, develop 
and assess the capabilities of all resources, including staff. 

•	 The Group also maintains insurance to limit exposure to operational risk.
•	 We continually review and monitor the effectiveness of our insurance 

arrangements.

 2 

�Regulatory and 
compliance risk
Overseen by:
•	 Board Risk Committee
•	 Risk and Control 

Committee  
(sub-committee of 
Executive Committee)

Regulation risk is the impact that 
change in existing applicable 
legislation and regulation may have 
on the Group operations and business 
model. Compliance risk refers to the 
financial, legal and reputational losses 
that may arise from a Group entity 
failing to adhere to applicable global 
and local financial services legislation 
and regulation.

The impact of regulatory risks 
materialising could result in penalties, 
restrictions or fines from our regulators, 
or in severe cases could result in the 
loss of our licences impeding our ability 
to operate or offer certain products.

•	 Robust Group regulatory and compliance framework led centrally by 
the Group General Counsel and Chief Risk and Compliance Officer (CRCO).

•	 A focused compliance culture embedded in the company values 
and objectives.

•	 Dedicated compliance teams within each business to ensure 
compliance with Anti Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing  
(AML/CTF), sanctions, and all other applicable legal, regulatory, and 
licensing requirements for each Group entity.

•	 Regulator-led operating model with a dedicated local CRCO in each 
business unit responsible for compliance with the relevant requirements 
for that specific market regulator.

•	 The Group’s legal team, in collaboration with external legal counsel, horizon 
scans and advises on the current requirements and anticipated change to 
the regulatory environments in which the Group operates providing advice 
on any measures required to maintain regulatory licences as appropriate.

Market driven. Continued 
strengthening of consumer 
protection within the 
financial services industry is 
driving increased oversight 
from regulators relating to 
consumer duty, protection 
of client assets and 
resilience of services.

RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

Other risks not addressed below
In addition to the key risks highlighted, the Directors acknowledge there are various other risks which have been reduced to an acceptable level including: 

•	Outsourcing risk; 
•	Strategic risk; and 
•	Concentration risk.
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WHAT IS THE RISK RISK DESCRIPTIONS POSSIBLE IMPACT KEY CONTROLS AND MITIGATING ACTIONS TREND INDICATOR
 3 

Cyber and 
technology risk
Overseen by:
•	 Technology Committee 

(sub-committee of 
Executive Committee)

•	 Executive Committee
•	 Board Risk Committee

Our technology is a key enabler to 
our success, including the protection 
of Group and all client funds. Cyber 
and technology risk is the failure or 
compromise of either our systems or its 
hosting environment, as well as failure 
to adequately protect the confidential 
information or personal data of the 
Group, clients, employees, and other 
relevant stakeholders. 

System failure or compromise would 
result in operational down-time, 
impacting client trading and our ability 
to generate revenue and profitability.
Any breach of our data protection would 
have significant implications including 
loss of client confidence, reputational 
damage, financial loss and potential 
fines and/or legal action. 

•	 We continue to invest in our technology platform to increase resilience, 
including the use of cloud-based server hosting.

•	 The Group uses the three lines of defence model for managing information 
and cyber security risks. The second line of defence is provided by the 
Information Security Team, led by the Chief Information Security Officer, 
and reports to the Group General Counsel and CRCO.

•	 Our Payments platform is certified to the international standard for 
information security, in addition, the Group’s systems and controls 
are certified to comply with the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants’ Trust Services Criteria and a SOC2 type 2 report has 
been received. 

•	 All staff are required to undergo mandatory security training to increase 
their awareness of the potential threats and tactics used by cyber criminals.

•	 We routinely conduct cyber simulation and disaster recovery exercises at 
both operational and senior management level.

 4 

People risk
Overseen by:
•	 Executive Committee

People risk refers to the risk that the 
Group may not be able to attract and 
retain qualified professionals, with 
relevant experience and knowledge 
in our industry sector, necessary to 
accomplish our goals. 

Inability to achieve our business goals 
including future growth and expansion, 
while complying with relevant 
regulation, due to lack of continuity and 
poor management succession. Also, 
a risk of loss of talent to competitors, 
resulting in lost market share.

•	 The Group implements strategic recruitment and retention plans. 
•	 We have clearly defined roles and responsibilities, including risk 

management and performance evaluation. 
•	 We utilise reward systems that consider overall performance.
•	 We have an Employee Opinion Survey to gather colleague feedback 

and take actions based on responses.
•	 Continued development of succession planning.

Due to an increased eNPS 
score, general culture 
feedback and a decline 
in attrition.

TREND INDICATORLINK TO STRATEGIC PILLARS

Stable Decreased IncreasedClients Performance Entrepreneurship Regulatory Culture

RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
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RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

WHAT IS THE RISK RISK DESCRIPTIONS POSSIBLE IMPACT KEY CONTROLS AND MITIGATING ACTIONS TREND INDICATOR
 11 

Legal risk
Overseen by:
•	 Board Risk Committee

Legal risk is inherent in all of 
the Group’s activities. Legal risk 
encompasses factors such as policy 
decisions, employee conduct, human 
resource practices, contractual 
obligations and legal and regulation 
interpretation. The Group’s business, 
with corporate entities located in 
multiple jurisdictions, additionally makes 
it subject to a wide range of laws and 
regulations and is supervised by a 
number of regulators globally. 

Legal risk can lead to penalties and 
fines, the need for monetary damages, 
deterioration of the Group’s reputation, 
and reduce the opportunities for 
development or legal enforcement 
of agreements.

•	 The General Counsel provides strategic legal advice to the Group Board 
and its subsidiaries. They are supported by a dedicated group of lawyers 
that provide guidance and advice to the business on its legal obligations.

•	 The legal function works with colleagues in other central functions and in 
local offices to monitor legislative changes and interact with regulators and 
industry bodies to stay informed of upcoming changes. The legal function 
is supported by external legal advisors when deemed appropriate.

12

Conduct risk
Overseen by:
•	 Risk and Control 

Committee (sub-committee 
of Executive Committee)

This is the risk we fail to conduct 
ourselves in a manner expected 
in the financial services industry 
resulting in detriment to a client or 
other stakeholder. This includes but 
is not limited to failure to comply with 
laws and/ or regulations such as the 
individual accountability regimes across 
a number of jurisdictions we operate in 
or the FCA’s Consumer Duty regulation 
which requires firms to ‘act to deliver 
good outcomes for retail customers’.

The consequences of not complying 
with a robust conduct risk regime can 
lead to serious consequences including 
fines, penalties or closure, hence the 
Group has no appetite for any practices 
that could be deemed to lead to 
increased conduct risk. 

•	 The Group has conduct risk policies, training programmes and risk 
indicators in place implementing a culture where the client’s interest should 
always be protected, including ensuring clients have access to clear and 
transparent information. Activities such as mis-selling of products and 
services, non-financial misconduct, fraudulent actions, poor product/service 
performance and any form of bribery and corruption are forbidden.

•	 All employees undertake mandatory anti-bribery and corruption training.

TREND INDICATORLINK TO STRATEGIC PILLARS

Stable Decreased IncreasedClients Performance Entrepreneurship Regulatory Culture
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Governance 
report
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All Directors are on the Board of Moneta Topco 
Limited, the ultimate Moneycorp Group holding 
company. Appointment dates reflect the date 
first appointed to the ultimate Moneycorp Group 
holding company. 

CHANGES DURING THE YEAR:
Appointments to the Moneta Topco 
Limited Board:

•	Richard Brice – appointed as Chief Financial 
Officer in December 2023, and joined the 
Board in January 2024

•	Benoît Alteirac – joined as a Bridgepoint 
Investor Director in July 2024

•	Vijay D’Silva – appointed as a Non-Executive 
Director in May 2025

The following were also 
Directors of Moneta Topco Limited 
Board during the year, and have since 
resigned:

•	William Paul – resigned June 2024

•	Edward Goble – resigned July 2024

•	Mark Horgan – resigned December 2024

•	David Shedd – resigned March 2025

•	Alan Bowkett – resigned May 2025

•	Emma Alley – resigned June 2025

Appointment dates for the Directors of  
Moneycorp Group Limited are detailed on: 
Page 107

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The Moneycorp Group Board has a diverse range of 
experienced and entrepreneurial individuals in both 
Executive and Non-Executive positions. The Board 
plays a critical role in developing strategic growth 
plans and providing independent perspectives to 
support core business performance. 

Evolving our experienced  
Board of Directors

RICHARD BRICE 
Executive Director –  
Chief Financial Officer 
Appointed: 2024 

Richard took over as CFO in 2023, joining from Barclays 
where he spent the prior 12 years, latterly holding the 
role of Managing Director, Barclays Bank plc Controller. 
Prior to this, Richard was the Barclays Head of Group 
Planning, Reporting & Analytics. Before joining 
Barclays, Richard held roles as a Supervisor at the 
Financial Services Authority, the Head of Risk Analysis & 
Capital Planning at Nationwide Building Society and a 
number of finance roles at Lloyds Banking Group.

 D Directors of Moneycorp Group Limited, the reporting company  A Audit Committee  R Risk Committee  RE Remuneration Committee

VELIZAR TARASHEV 
Executive Director –  
Chief Executive Officer 
Appointed: 2021

Velizar was appointed as Moneycorp CEO in July 2023 
after 2.5 years in the CFO role. Velizar has a long track 
record of successful execution in regulated financial 
services. Before joining Moneycorp, he spent more 
than a decade at Barclays in various leadership roles 
including Finance, Strategy and Technology, with his 
final role as CFO at Barclays Private Bank. Prior to that 
Velizar was an investment banker at UBS and a strategy 
consultant at AT Kearney.

 D  A  RE R  D  A

ADAM JONES 
Chair and Investor Director1 
Appointed: 2020

Adam was appointed as Moneycorp Group Board Chair 
in May 2025 after serving on the Board as an Investor 
Director for Bridgepoint where he held various senior 
leadership roles, most recently as Group CFO and 
COO. Prior to Bridgepoint, Adam had Group CFO roles 
within private-equity backed companies and divisional 
CFO roles within large global organisations. Adam is 
currently a Non-executive Director at Itsu and Burger 
King UK, and also chairs the Moneycorp Remuneration 
Committee and Audit Committee.

 D  A  RE

1	 Representative of BEIV Nominees Limited.

PETER GREEN 
Executive Director –  
General Counsel and Chief Risk  
and Compliance Officer 
Appointed: 2021

Peter is Moneycorp’s General Counsel and Chief 
Risk and Compliance Officer. He brings 30+ years’ 
experience in senior roles in compliance, risk 
and regulatory. His previous experience includes 
MoneyGram International, where he served as 
their Global Head of Regulatory Affairs, as well as 
serving as General Counsel and Chief Compliance 
Officer at various blue‑chip firms.

 D  R
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1	 Representative of BEIV Nominees Limited.
2	 As at December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONTINUED

VIJAY D’SILVA 
Non-Executive Director
Appointed: 2025

Vijay joined the Moneycorp Board as a Non-Executive 
Director in May 2025, bringing extensive experience as 
a corporate board member at Worldpay and previously 
FIS. An engineer and computer scientist by training, he 
also advises venture capital firms and serves as a Senior 
Lecturer and Executive-in-Residence at MIT. Previously, 
as a Senior Partner at McKinsey in leadership roles over 
nearly three decades, he served clients globally on a 
range of strategic and operational issues, particularly 
at the intersection of finance and technology.

 R

BENOÎT ALTEIRAC 
Investor Director1

Appointed: 2024

Benoît joined as a Bridgepoint Investor Director 
in July 2024 however has supported Moneycorp 
throughout Bridgepoint’s investment to date. Benoît 
is a Partner at Bridgepoint, joining the firm in 2002, 
and is based in London. Benoît is also a Board Director 
at Itsu and Burger King UK, both of which are other 
Bridgepoint investments.

MARTIN CLEMENTS 
Non-Executive Director 
Appointed: 2018 

Martin joined Moneycorp as a Non-Executive Director 
in 2018 and also chairs the Risk Committee. Originally 
trained in computer and natural sciences, Martin 
previously held the position of Director General 
Technology and Transformation at the UK Foreign and 
Commonwealth Office. Martin has chaired several 
Boards and acted as an advisor to global business 
leaders mainly in the defence technology, cybersecurity 
and financial services sectors

 R

BOARD TENURE2

	0-3 years	 2
	3-6 years 	 5
	6+ years 	 2

BOARD COMPOSITION2

	Chair	 1
	Executive Director 	 4
	Investor Director	 2
	Non-Executive Director 	2

 D Directors of Moneycorp Group Limited, the reporting company  A Audit Committee  R Risk Committee  RE Remuneration Committee

Moneycorp Annual Report and Accounts 202455

Overview Strategic report Governance Financial statements Other information



GOVERNANCE AT A GLANCE

Finance  
Committee

Technology  
Committee

Operations  
Committee

Risk and Control 
Committee

Strong governance is 
central to the management 
of the organisation. 

Governance 
structure

SUBSIDIARY BOARDS AND COMMITTEES

1	 Alan Bowkett chaired the 11 Board meetings held in 2024, with Adam Jones formally appointed as Group Board Chair in May 2025.  
2	� Alan Bowkett chaired the Audit Committee on an interim basis for first of the four meetings in 2024 and William Paul the June meeting.  

Adam Jones was formally appointed as Audit Committee Chair in November and chaired the final two meetings in the second half of the year.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Chaired by: Velizar Tarashev  
Meetings held in 2024: 11

RISK COMMITTEE
Chaired by: Martin Clements,  
Non-executive Director
Meetings held in 2024: 4

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chaired by: Adam Jones1

Meetings held in 2024: 11

CREDIT COMMITTEE
Chaired by: Matthew Roberts, 
Head of Credit Risk
Meetings held in 2024: 56

The Group Board maintains effective oversight 
via a series of committees and has overall 
responsibility for governance within the Group.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Chaired by: Adam Jones, Board 
Chair and Investor Director 
Meetings held in 2024: 6

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Chaired by: Adam Jones, Board 
Chair and Investor Director2

Meetings held in 2024: 4
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Roles and responsibilities

SUBSIDIARY BOARDS AND 
COMMITTEES

FINANCE COMMITTEE, 
TECHNOLOGY COMMITTEE, 
OPERATIONS COMMITEE 
AND RISK AND CONTROL 
COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
The Board delegates all day-to-day 
operational matters to the Executive 
Committee, except for matters specifically 
reserved to the Board. The Executive 
Committee is supported by its four sub-
committees in delivering its key responsibilities 
which include:

•	Global decision making: ensure 
transparency, appropriate involvement and 
global adoption of strategy, implementation, 
operational matters and effectiveness

•	Commerciality and entrepreneurialism: 
foster a spirit of commercial value creation 
and innovation

•	Comprehensiveness and risk coverage: 
ensure all risks, business/product/ functional 
areas and geographies are appropriately 
governed and monitored

•	Efficiency and effectiveness: streamline 
communication channels, ensure 
appropriate levels of decision making

AUDIT COMMITTEE
•	Overseeing and monitoring the 

integrity of financial statements and any 
material financial judgements contained 
therein, ensuring they provide an accurate 
representation of the financial position 
of the Group

•	 �Monitoring the independence and 
effectiveness of external auditors and 
recommending to the Board for approval 
appropriate terms of engagement

•	 �Reviewing and monitoring the Group’s 
internal financial control framework and 
internal audit function

RISK COMMITTEE
•	Setting and governing the Group’s risk 

appetite, making recommendations to 
the Board on Group-wide risks

•	 �Establishing risk management frameworks, 
policies and procedures

•	 �Providing oversight of the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Group’s risk and 
control framework 

•	 �Monitoring the Group’s risk profile against 
risk appetite for each risk type under 
normal and stress conditions

•	 �Reviewing the Group’s compliance with 
its internal policies as stipulated by the 
relevant policies

REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE
•	Reviewing and monitoring the Group’s 

remuneration policy and strategy, ensuring 
it is designed to promote long-term 
sustainable success with a clear link to 
corporate and individual performance

•	 �Setting remuneration levels for all 
executive members and the Chair

•	 �Recommending and monitoring the 
level and structure of remuneration 
for senior management

•	 �Identifying and nominating to the 
Board, candidates to fill vacancies as 
and when necessary 

CREDIT COMMITTEE 
•	 �Reviewing credit proposals that are 

outside the limits that can be decided 
by the Credit Department

•	 �Approving or declining credit proposals 
that are within Credit Committee limits 
(as determined by Credit Policy) or credit 
proposals that have been declined by 
the Credit Department, appealed by 
the business

•	 �Making recommendations to the Board 
for credit proposals that are outside 
Credit Committee limits

•	 �Discussing credit events or issues that 
the Credit Department or others wish 
to present for consideration

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The role of the Board is to approve 
the Group’s strategy, promoting the  
long-term success of the business and 
delivering value to stakeholders. 

The Board delegates certain of its 
responsibilities to a series of committees 
including the Risk, Audit and Remuneration 
Committees.

Key responsibilities include:

•	Corporate control and fiduciary 
responsibilities oversight.

•	Strategy: approval, risk appetite, market 
and competitive landscape, talent and 
futureproofing.

•	 ��Effectiveness: clear accountabilities, 
defined levels of approval, and a process/
mechanism for escalation, independent 
challenge and logistical efficacy.

•	Stakeholder relationships.

GOVERNANCE AT A GLANCE CONTINUED
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DIRECTORS’  REPORT 

The Directors present their report and the audited 
consolidated financial statements for Moneycorp 
Group Limited (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries 
(together the ‘Group’, trading as ‘Moneycorp’) for 
the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group 
financial statements comprise the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company, including its 
subsidiaries and associated undertakings, as defined 
by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
and International Accounting Standards. 

CONTROLLING INTEREST
The holding company for the Group is Moneta 
Topco Limited (100% effective holding), a company 
incorporated and registered in Jersey, Channel 
Islands. The ultimate controller of Moneta Topco 
Limited is Bridgepoint Europe IV (Nominees) 
Limited. The Group comprises of the Company 
and its subsidiaries as detailed in note 17 to the 
consolidated financial statements. Additionally, 
certain subsidiaries have branches in the UK, Spain, 
Romania and France although regulated activity 
in Romania is now being wound down and is 
considered a discontinued operation.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND OUTLOOK 
The principal activities and outlook for the Group, 
including subsequent events, are discussed in the 
Strategic report

Directors’ report 
GOING CONCERN ASSESSMENT 
The Directors assess the Group’s going concern 
for a period of at least 12 months from the 
signing of the annual report and consolidated 
financial statements. The assessment has been 
undertaken by considering the risk factors and 
events arising subsequent to year end, as outlined 
in the Strategic report. 

In making this assessment the Directors considered: 

•	whether there is sufficient liquidity and financing 
to support the business, its corporate transactions 
and future trading; 

•	whether post-balance sheet trading is in line 
with expectations; 

•	 if the Group would be able to trade after the 
impact of a reasonable downside scenario on 
performance (stress testing);

•	the adequacy of insurance cover; 

•	the continued availability of financing facilities 
and trading lines;

•	complying with, or varying, covenant requirements 
of financing and facilities;

•	the regulatory environment in which the Group 
operates; and

•	the effectiveness of risk management policies, 
in particular, business continuity, compliance, 
regulatory and counterparty risks.

Performance subsequent to the 
reporting date:
Moneycorp Group has continued to perform well 
in the first five months of 2025 with revenue and 
EBITDA ahead of the same period in the prior year.

Assessment: 
As part of the going concern assessment the 
Directors have considered a number of scenarios 
to understand the impact on EBITDA and cash 
flows, including adverse movements to interest 
rates, inflation, foreign exchange rates and other 
macroeconomic factors from the 2025 budget, 
forecasted out for at least 12 months from the 
signing date of this report. Even if these scenarios 
were to eventuate, they would not result in a 
material adverse impact and therefore the Directors 
have concluded that the Group could continue to 
operate as a going concern. 

This is supported by the additional following factors: 

•	the diversity of the Group’s operations, product 
offerings and client base assists in reducing the 
overall risk; and

•	On 11 June 2025, the Directors executed a 
refinancing of the existing wider Moneycorp 
Group Senior Facilities Agreement, 
increasing the borrowings and extending the 
maturity out to 2030. In addition, the super 
senior revolving credit facility was enhanced, 
further increasing the Group’s liquidity resources 
and resiliency during market stresses such 
as increased foreign exchange volatility. 
Management continue to maintain positive 
ongoing relationships with the wider Moneycorp 
Group’s lenders and banking partners.

The Directors believe that it remains appropriate to 
prepare the financial statements on a going concern 
basis. The financial statements do not include any 
adjustments that would arise if the Group were 
unable to continue as a going concern. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
BDO LLP have indicated their willingness to continue 
in office, and a resolution for their reappointment 
was agreed at the April 2025 meeting of the Board 
of Directors. 

By order of the Board

Richard Brice 
Executive Director 
20 June 2025
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Moneycorp Group Limited (‘the Company’) is a private limited company limited by shares, incorporated in 
Jersey under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. The address of the registered office is given in the company 
information on page 107. The nature of operations and the principal activities of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together ‘the Group’, trading as ‘Moneycorp’) are set out in the Strategic Report and note 17.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
Compliance with IFRS
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and International Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
and Interpretations (collectively IFRSs).

Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain 
financial assets and liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) which are measured at fair value at 
the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally 
based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or 
a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would 
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value 
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on 
such a basis.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance 
of the inputs on the fair value measurement in its entirety. Refer to note 23 for details over each level.

Notes to the 
financial statements

Going concern basis
The Directors assess the Group’s going concern for a period of at least 12 months from the signing of 
the annual report and financial statements. The assessment has been undertaken by considering the 
risk factors and events arising subsequent to year end, outlined in the Strategic Report.

In making this assessment the Directors considered: 

•	whether there is sufficient liquidity and financing to support the business, its corporate transactions 
and future trading;

•	whether post balance sheet trading is in line with expectations;

•	 if the Group would be able to trade after the impact of a reasonable downside scenario on 
performance (stress testing);

•	the adequacy of insurance cover;

•	the continued availability of financing facilities and trading lines;

•	complying with, or varying, covenant requirements of financing and facilities;

•	the regulatory environment in which the Group operates; and

•	the effectiveness of risk management policies, in particular, business continuity, compliance, 
regulatory and counterparty risks.

The performance for the Group subsequent to the balance sheet date has been detailed in the going 
concern section of the Directors’ report. The Group has continued to perform well, and ahead of plan.

As part of the going concern assessment the Directors have undertaken scenario planning to understand 
the impact on the EBITDA and cash flows including adverse movements to interest rates, inflation, foreign 
exchange rates and other macroeconomic factors, forecasted out for at least 12 months from the signing 
date of this report. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED
Financial assets at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash including physical bank notes and funds held in short-term 
bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, including overnight money-market funds. 
The carrying amount of these assets is approximately equal to their fair value. Any overdrawn bank accounts 
are presented separately on the consolidated balance sheet within borrowings.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables relate primarily to physical bank notes, international payment receivables and 
related party receivables. They are recognised at the point when a commitment is established and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less loss allowance.

Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost
At the reporting date the Group measures a loss allowance on financial assets other than those at fair value 
through profit or loss. The Group applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which 
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all financial assets at amortised cost regardless of if the credit 
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition or not. The amount of the loss allowance on financial 
assets is recognised in the consolidated income statement within direct expenses. 

For trade and other receivables, balances are written off against the net impairment loss where there 
is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery 
include, amongst others, the failure of a counterparty to engage in a repayment plan with the Group or the 
counterparty entering bankruptcy or financial reorganisation. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written off are credited against the same line item within direct expenses.

Given the high credit quality and short term nature of the financial assets measured at amortised cost, the 
Group does not anticipate any material expected credit losses to be applicable for these assets.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings
Borrowings are initially measured at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
measurement they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with any interest 
expense recognised on an effective interest basis.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract 
is discharged, cancelled or expired. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount 
on initial recognition.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables, including accruals, represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the 
Group prior to the end of the financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as 
current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months of the balance sheet date. They are recognised 
initially at original invoice, contract value or expected contract value being the best estimate of fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Trade and other payables largely comprise the Group’s obligation to businesses (including central banks) 
for advance payments received for bank notes ordered but not yet delivered, or bank notes purchased 
and collected but not yet paid for, at the balance sheet date. They are recognised at the value of the cash 
consideration received, plus any accrued interest, being the best estimate of fair value.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments for trading purposes acting as a matched 
principal broker in the provision of foreign exchange spot, forward and option contracts to businesses 
and individuals. In addition, a small number of derivative financial instruments are entered into to manage 
exposure to the Group’s foreign exchange rate risk.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently re-measured to their fair value at each balance sheet date. The resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in the consolidated income statement within revenue. Further details regarding the fair value 
measurement and valuation process of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 23.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative 
fair value is recognised as a financial liability. 

Derivative financial instruments are held for trading and as such are presented as a current asset or a 
current liability, irrespective of the contractual maturity date.

Share capital
Ordinary share capital is classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
ordinary shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Revenue 
A summary of the Group’s revenue streams is provided below: 

Payments – Corporate and Private
Revenue from the Payments – Corporate and Private businesses primarily consists of the margin earned 
between the buying and selling price of currencies sold in foreign exchange spot, forward and option 
contracts. As these contracts are classed as financial instruments, revenue is recognised based on the 
requirements of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. Revenue is recognised on trade date and presented as a net 
gain on financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss.

A fixed fee is charged to clients who trade lower amounts of currency in their international payment 
transactions. Payment of the fixed fee is due when the client makes the transaction. Payment transactions 
generally have only one performance obligation and revenue is recognised at the point in time when control 
of the foreign currency purchased is transferred to the client, in line with the requirements of IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED
Revenue – continued
Payments – Corporate and Private – continued
Option premium revenue is earned from entering option contracts with either banks or clients. Revenue 
is earned regardless of whether an option is exercised or not. There is one agreed transaction price and 
it is wholly allocated to one performance obligation. Revenue is recognised at the point in time when the 
contract is entered into, with payment received subsequently as outlined on the contract.

Interest earned and paid on client held funds forms part of the general operations of the Group and hence 
is presented as part of revenue and direct expenses respectively.

Clients are also able to buy currency and load it onto a prepaid card. Prepaid card revenue is earned and 
recognised when the client buys the currency to load onto a card. Revenue is also earned when the client 
uses the card for POS transactions, ATM withdrawals, cash outs and money transfers or incurs inactivity 
charges. Fees vary depending on the transaction and are either fixed or a percentage of the transaction 
amount. Prepaid card revenue has one performance obligation and is recognised at the point in time when 
the transaction is made, generally when the client spends or withdraws.

Payments – FI – Moneycorp Bank
Moneycorp Bank offers payment and foreign exchange services to businesses and individuals, prepaid 
cards and deposit account products. As such, revenue is similar in nature to Payments – Corporate and 
Private detailed above. 

Payments – FI – Financial Institutions Group (FIG) 
The FIG business provides money services by supplying and purchasing physical banknotes to/from 
businesses (including central banks). Revenue represents the commission charges on such services as well 
as any margin earned between the buying and selling price of foreign currency banknotes. There is only 
one performance obligation associated with FIG commission revenue which is recognised at the point in 
time when the currency is delivered to/collected from the client.

Under IFRS 15, volume discounts/rebates are a type of variable consideration. Rebates are reported and 
revenue is reflected net of rebates. 

Finance income and costs
Interest paid to lenders in relation to the Group’s borrowings from related parties is recorded within finance 
costs. Additionally, the Group classifies interest charged on its operating bank accounts, as well as other 
costs associated with the management of cash and cash equivalents and debt, such as interest on lease 
liabilities, as finance costs. 

Interest earned and paid on client held funds forms part of the general operations of the Group and hence 
is presented as part of revenue and direct expenses respectively. 

Leases
The Group leases various office spaces. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and can often 
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The Group assesses whether a contract is, or 
contains, a lease at inception of a contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding 
lease liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group with respect to all lease 
agreements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 
12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. Lease payments for these leases are recognised on a 
straight-line basis as an expense in the consolidated income statement.

For contracts where the supplier has substantive rights to substitute the asset throughout the period of 
use, these do not meet the definition of a contract that contains a lease under IFRS 16 Leases and as such 
payments are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement in the period in which they 
are incurred.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities 
include the following lease payments: 

•	fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives;

•	variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate;

•	payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that 
option; and

•	payments to be made under extension options when it is reasonably certain that the Group will extend 
the lease.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the above lease payments that are not paid 
at the commencement date, discounted using the rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, which is generally the case for leases of the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is 
used. This is determined to be the rate that the Group would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary 
to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar 
terms, security and conditions. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the 
lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease 
payments made. 

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 
asset) whenever:

•	the lease term changes, or there is a change in the assessment of exercising a purchase option, in which 
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a recalculated 
discount rate; or

•	the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate, in which case the lease liability is 
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

16. LEASES – CONTINUED
16b. Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement
The consolidated income statement shows the following amounts relating to leases (split across continuing 
and discontinued operations):

2024
£000

2023
£000

Recognised in administrative expenses:
Depreciation charge on right-of-use assets (see note 16a) (1,883) (1,800)
Expense relating to short-term leases (see note 33a) (399) (325)

(2,282) (2,125)
Recognised in finance income:
Net investment interest income 16 22

16 22
Recognised in finance costs:
Lease liability interest expense (399) (454)

(399) (454)

Interest charge for the year of £399k can be allocated as £395k to continuing operations and £4k to 
discontinued operations (2023 restated: £454k allocated as £449k to continuing operations and £5k to 
discontinued operations). 

17. SUBSIDIARIES 
The Group consists of a parent company, Moneycorp Group Limited, incorporated in Jersey and a number 
of subsidiaries held directly and indirectly by Moneycorp Group Limited, which operate and are incorporated 
in various locations globally. 

Details of the Company’s direct subsidiary companies as at 31 December are detailed below. The country 
of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business.

Name of entity
Place of incorporation 
(or registration) Principal activity

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting 

power held
2024 2023

TTT Moneycorp Limited UK Payment services 100% 100%
Moneycorp Financial Risk 
Management Limited

UK MiFID regulated 
derivatives

100% 100%

Moneycorp Technologies 
Limited

UK Technology 100% 100%

Moneycorp CFX Limited UK Dormant 100% 100%
Moneycorp Shared Services 
Limited

UK Service company 100% 100%

Moneycorp Inc USA Investment holding 100% 100%
Moneycorp Bank Limited Gibraltar Banking services 100% 100%
Moneycorp Technologies 
Limited

Ireland MiFID regulated 
derivatives & 
payment services

100% 100%

Moneycorp International 
Payments Canada, Inc

Canada Introducing broker 100% 100%

Moneycorp (Europe) S.A Luxembourg Dormant  100%  100%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – CONTINUED
Restricted cash – continued
Client restricted cash – continued
Any collateral held in relation to options and in-scope forwards, which are subject to the CAR/CASS, are 
held in segregated client bank accounts which are off-balance sheet and not included in the cash and cash 
equivalents balance above.

For client funds held under EMI/PSD regulations, the subsidiaries are required to keep these in client 
safeguarding accounts and are held on balance sheet for financial statement purposes. As these funds are 
subject to regulatory restrictions and held in segregated accounts for the benefit of clients, they are not 
available for general use by the Group.

Funds held by Moneycorp Bank Limited are maintained in either client designated accounts or in 
physical notes. 

Moneycorp Banco de Câmbio S.A. does not generally hold client cash balances, although balances do arise 
for a short period of time in relation to the settlement of client foreign exchange deals. If funds are received 
unrelated to a client deal, these funds are required to be returned to the sender.

Group restricted cash
Group restricted cash relates to funds which are held with external banks which are restricted by additional 
jurisdiction regulations. These specifically extend to share capital and liquidity restrictions. 

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2024
£000

2023
(Restated)1

£000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables 2,234 2,751
Margin posted with liquidity providers 2,231 541
Banknotes trade receivables 16,201 132,194
Loss allowance (see note 31) (1,886) (1,651)

18,780 133,835

Related party receivables owed by immediate parent company 79,574 62,584
Related party receivables owed by Group holding company 15,801 11,761
Other debtors 2,231 2,014

116,386 210,194

1	 Trade and other receivables for the year as at 31 December 2023 have been restated – Refer to note 37. 

The Group both buys and sells bank notes from/to its suppliers depending on the committed orders placed 
by clients. Bank note trade receivables relate to unpaid client and supplier committed orders for physical 
bank notes. Given the short time period between order and delivery/settlement with the client, this balance 
has been settled soon after the balance sheet date.

23. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair value of derivative financial assets is calculated as the mark to market (MTM) less any credit valuation 
adjustments (CVA) to reflect counterparty credit risk. The fair value of the derivative financial liabilities is 
calculated as the MTM less any debit valuation adjustments (DVA). 

The MTM of the foreign currency forwards and options are provided by an external valuation company and 
discussed further under the fair value hierarchy below. 

The Group carries out an internal credit assessment of each counterparty prior to entering into a trading 
relationship, performed by the Group Credit Department. The grading scale that the Group uses ranges 
from credit grade 1 (investment grade equivalent, being the least risky) to credit grade 7 (in essence an entity 
which appears failed, being the most risky). In order to calculate the CVA for derivative financial assets a 
default rate is assigned to each credit rating. Whilst the Group has not carried out an exercise in allocating 
a credit rating using credit rating agencies, both an expected credit grading and default rate have been 
estimated based on management experience and judgement. These estimates are used to adjust the 
derivative asset value in order to take into account the credit risk of the counterparty.

For certain clients, the Group requires collateral to be posted when their positions are out of the money 
above a certain tolerance level. Where the Group is holding collateral from a client, those funds are deducted 
from the derivative financial asset exposure before the CVA is calculated. 

Similarly a DVA is applied to the derivative financial liabilities to reflect the risk of the Group defaulting on 
the balance payable to the counterparty. This default rate has been estimated by management based on an 
expected credit grading that would be assigned to the Group, and then applying a corresponding default 
rate to that grading using credit rating agencies as a guide.

2024
£000

2023
£000

Un-adjusted forwards MTM (excluding CVA and DVA)
Financial assets
Foreign currency forward contracts 57,024 34,375 
Foreign currency option contracts 29,821 21,239
Total financial assets  86,845  55,614

Financial liabilities
Foreign currency forward contracts  (45,558)  (22,565)
Foreign currency option contracts  (29,821)  (21,239)
Total financial liabilities  (75,379)  (43,804)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

33. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
33a. Operating lease arrangements
The Group leases office and retail space as a lessee under non-cancellable operating leases. The Group 
assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease under IFRS 16 and if so subsequently recognises a  
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability. See notes 5 and 16 for further details. The below 
represents the lease expense recognised during the year, and outstanding commitments for future 
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, for leases which do not meet the 
criteria to be recognised on the consolidated balance sheet in line with IFRS 16, or are short term in nature. 

2024
£000

2023
£000

Lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense in the year 399 325

Lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense in the year can be allocated as £395k 
from continuing operations and £4k from discontinued (2023: £315k from continuing operations and £10k 
from discontinued operations).

At the balance sheet date the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments 
under non-cancellable operating leases, outside of those already recognised on the consolidated balance 
sheet as a lease liability, which fall due as follows:

2024
£000

2023
£000

Within one year 21 102
21 102

The above operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain office properties 
and other equipment. 

33b. Capital commitments
Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised as liabilities is 
as follows:

2024
£000

2023
£000

Intangible assets 1,562 504

33c. Other commitments and contingent liabilities
Other than the commitments above, the Group has no other material financial commitments or contingent 
liabilities outside of liabilities presented on the face of the consolidated balance sheet at the reporting date 
(2023: nil). 

33d. Contingent assets
On the 31 December 2021, the Group suffered a loss as a result of an external fraud against a subsidiary 
company with the loss recognised in the consolidated income statement during 2021. The corporate assets 
linked to the external fraud were seized. Following the Group’s pursuit for recovery of the illicitly obtained 
funds, court proceedings held on 16 October 2023 saw the court approve certain actions which cleared a 
path for the distribution of assets from the bankruptcy. Final approval and settlement of the case occurred 
in 2024.

34. LITIGATION AND CLAIMS
Legal claim – External fraud 
The Group entered into litigation during the year regarding an external theft against the Group, which 
occurred in 2021. Refer to note 33d for further details. 

The Group was not part of any material legal proceeding during the reporting year.

35. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been 
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Transactions between the Group and its 
related parties are disclosed below. 

35a. Trading transactions 
Trade receivable balances held with the immediate parent company and other Moneycorp holding 
companies, which do not form part of the consolidated Group, at year end are disclosed in note 22.

Related party borrowings owing to the immediate parent company are disclosed in note 27. 
The corresponding finance costs paid are disclosed in note 12. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

35. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS – CONTINUED
35b. Other related parties
During the year, Group companies entered into the transactions noted below with related companies who 
are not members of the Group but are connected via common control. These transactions were made on an 
arm’s length basis. The gross amount of currencies sold to these entities are shown below: 

2024
£000

2023
£000

Anaveo Group 4,658 –
Equativ 84,746 –
Humanetics Group 9,999 –
Inspired Thinking Group 26,788 –
Kereis Group 7,152 –
Media iQ 53,568 –
PEI Media 24,000 6,000
Prescient Healthcare Group 25,987 –
QualiTest Group 9,385 10,537
Tunstall Healthcare Group 20,896 92,865
Cruise.co.uk – 1,892
Elgin Limited – 3,779

35c. Directors’ and management transactions
The following transactions were entered into by directors of Moneycorp Group companies during the year: 

•	Various directors entered into foreign exchange transactions yielding commission income for the Group 
of £1,207 (2023: £2,342) with an average margin of 0.03% (2023:0.08%). No transactions were outstanding 
at the balance sheet date

•	Various Directors held total funds of £87,784 (2023: £42,690) within their foreign currency trading accounts 
at the balance sheet date.

•	No Directors held funds on deposit, or earned interest, with the Group during the year. (2023: £10,000 
deposit held, interest of £337). 

Private client transactions carried out on standard terms will earn the Group a margin in the range of 
1% to 1.5%.

35d. Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the key management personnel of the Group is set out below in aggregate for each of 
the categories specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures. 

2024
£000

2023
£000

Short-term employee benefits 2,661 3,235
Post-employment benefits 56 46
Termination benefits – 722

2,717 4,003

36. GROUP HOLDING COMPANY AND CONTROLLING ENTITY
At balance sheet date, the Directors consider that the Company’s immediate parent and controlling party to 
be Moneta Bidco Limited (100% effective holding), incorporated and registered in Jersey, Channel Islands. 

The Moneycorp Group holding company is Moneta Topco Limited (100% effective holding), a company 
incorporated and registered in Jersey, Channel Islands. This company produces consolidated financial 
statements and this group (referred to within these financial statements as ‘the wider Moneycorp Group’) 
represents the largest group of which the Company is a subsidiary.

Consolidated financial statements are also produced for Moneta Midco ll Limited, a company incorporated 
and registered in Jersey, Channel Islands. This group represents the smallest group of which the Company is 
a subsidiary, for which consolidated financial statements are produced. 

The ultimate controller of Moneta Topco Limited at balance sheet date was Bridgepoint Europe IV 
(Nominees) Limited.

37. PRIOR YEAR RESTATEMENTS
During the current year, Moneycorp has revisited its accounting policy related to the recognition and 
derecognition of Trade Receivables and Trade Payables for the purchase, collection and delivery of physical 
bank notes in light of its current practice. 

The Group had previously recognised receivables (assets) and payables (liabilities) from client activity at the 
time a client order was confirmed, being the date both parties entered into a binding contractual obligation. 
This practice was in accordance with IFRS 9.3.1.1 Financial Instruments, which states that “An entity shall 
recognise a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position when, and only when, 
an entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.” 
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Alternative 
performance 
measures

In addition to generally accepted accounting 
measures, Moneycorp uses a number of 
alternative performance measures (APMs) in 
order to monitor business performance. APMs 
have been included within the annual report 
to supplement the disclosures prepared in 
accordance with other regulations, such as 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as they are an effective way of communicating 
important entity specific developments. APMs 
should be viewed as complementary to, rather 
than as a substitute for, the amounts determined 
according to other regulations. 

Definitions and other information is provided 
below on the APMs used by the Group: 

EBITDA 
EBITDA is an industry recognised measure defined 
as earnings before financing costs, tax, depreciation, 
amortisation and significant one-off items. EBITDA 
is a core KPI used internally to monitor performance 
on a monthly basis and is reported to the wider 
Moneycorp Group’s lenders as defined in the Senior 
Facilities Agreement. A detailed reconciliation from 
EBITDA to the statutory reported result is shown 
on page 103. 

EBITDA MARGIN 
EBITDA margin is calculated as EBITDA divided 
by revenue, and provides an indication of the 
conversion of revenue to EBITDA profitability. 

CLIENTS TRADED
Clients traded represents the number of clients –  
businesses, financial institutions and private 
individuals – who have executed a transaction 
with Moneycorp during the period.

TRADING VOLUME/FLOW 
Trading volume represents the gross notional value 
of client currency transactions processed in their 
GBP equivalent and is used by management for 
all three business segments as it is the basis from 
which revenue is generated. Trading volume is 
measured as a single leg transaction volume. 

CORPORATE REVENUE RETENTION 
The Group monitors corporate revenue retention 
within the Payments – Corporate segment. This 
metric is defined as the revenue generated from 
corporate clients who transacted in the prior period 
and is calculated as the revenue generated from this 
client base in the current reporting period, divided 
by the revenue generated from the same client base 
in the prior period. 

STRAIGHT-THROUGH PROCESSING (STP) 
STP is a core KPI for Moneycorp as it allows us to 
monitor the automation of payments processed. 
STP is calculated as the percentage of Payments – 
Corporate and Private (excluding Brazil) payments 
that are sent without human intervention. The 
benefits of high STP are many – client experience, 
operational resilience, platform scalability and cost. 

ONLINE TRANSACTIONS 
The Group serves clients via a number of channels. 
Online transactions represent the percentage 
of Payments – Corporate and Private (excluding 
Brazil) payments initiated either via the Group’s 
online payments platform or through our bulk 
upload payment capability. Online transactions 
is a performance measure used, similar to STP, 
to monitor digitalisation and automation of the 
Group’s business and client servicing efficiency. 
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EBITDA to 
statutory results 
reconciliation

RECONCILIATION TO STATUTORY RESULTS

 
2024
£000

2023
(Restated)1

£000

Total Group revenue reconciliation
Revenue per Management accounts 231,300 220,768
Statutory year end differences (5) 69
Statutory reported results 231,295 220,837

EBITDA to statutory profit reconciliation
EBITDA per Management accounts 80,427 76,893
Plus: other statutory differences2 (279) (1,343)
Plus: Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains (4,200) 2,259
Plus: significant one-off items (7,770) (6,682)
Plus: Depreciation, amortisation, impairment and loss on disposal (14,299) (11,527)
Statutory operating profit 53,879 59,600
Plus: Net finance costs (11,525) (11,155)
Plus: Tax charge (5,936) (4,663)
Profit for the period from continuing operations 36,418 43,782

1	 �Financial results are shown on a continuing operations basis following the strategic decision, in 2024, to wind-down the regulated 
activity of our Romanian branch which is now discontinued. 2023 results have been restated for comparability.

2	� Other includes holding company costs not part of the trading Group, Group recharges to parent companies and discontinued 
operations, and other statutory year end adjustments after the Management accounts closed.
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Contact  
details

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER 
92479 

DATE OF INCORPORATION 
13 February 2006 

REGISTERED OFFICE 
47 Esplanade  
St Helier  
Jersey  
JE1 0BD 

CORRESPONDENCE ADDRESS 
Floor 5, Zig Zag Building  
70 Victoria Street  
London  
SW1E 6SQ 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
BDO LLP  
55 Baker Street  
London  
W1U 7EU 

COMPANY SECRETARY 
Crestbridge Limited  
47 Esplanade  
St Helier  
Jersey  
JE1 0BD 

DIRECTORS 
A Jones – appointed November 2020 
V Tarashev – appointed June 2022 
P Green – appointed August 2023 
R Brice - appointed June 2025 
A Bowkett – appointed June 2022, resigned May 2025 
E Alley – appointed August 2023, resigned June 2025

Designed and produced by Brunswick Creative
brunswickgroup.com
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